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Overview 

The Town of Fairfield on behalf of its Department of Public Works (DPW) and Engineering Department is seeking licensed engineers 

to provide professional services for Benefit Cost Analysis for Climate Resiliency. The selected firm will be responsible for consulting 

and oversight. All submissions must comply with the requirements specified in this Request for Proposals (RFP). 

 

Submission Requirements 

Firms shall submit one original, one electronic, and four (4) written copies of your proposal.  Questions concerning this RFQ must be 

in writing and directed only to: 

 

Proposals must be received by 2:00 p.m. on 9th June 2022; send sealed proposals to: 

 

Town of Fairfield 

Purchasing Authority 

725 Old Post Rd 

Fairfield, CT 06824 

 

ADDENDA / REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION (RFI) 

Addenda concerning important information and/or modifications to specifications will be posted on the Fairfield Purchasing 

Department website at https://fairfieldct.org/bids 

 It is each Bidder’s sole responsibility to monitor the above website for all updated information.  

 Addenda will not be mailed, e-mailed or faxed out. 

 Written requests for information will not be accepted after 12:00pm on Wednesday, June 1st, 2022.  

 Verbal requests for information via phone or other means will not be accepted. 

 Failure to comply with these conditions will result in the bidder waiving the right to dispute bid specifications and conditions, 

no exceptions. 

Questions concerning this bid must be submitted in writing and directed only to: 

Corinne Dyer, Senior Buyer 

cdyer@fairfieldct.org 

 

Response will be in the form of an addendum that will be posted approximately 2nd June 2022 to the Town of Fairfield website, which 

is www.fairfieldct.org.  It is the responsibility of each bidder to retrieve addenda from the website.  Any contact about this bid between 

a Bidder and any other Municipal official and/or department manager and/or Municipal employee, other than as set forth above, may 

be grounds for disqualification of that Bidder.  No questions or clarifications shall be answered by phone, in person or in any other 

manner than specified above. 

 

 

Scope of Services 

The Town of Fairfield is requesting consulting engineering services for Fairfield Benefit Cost Analysis for Climate Resiliency.   

The consultant(s) will be asked to perform tasks such as investigation, preparation of reports and plans, if applicable, development of 

cost estimates, value engineering, design concept reporting, site master plan preparation, graphics to assist in project visualization, 

public outreach, and negotiations with regulatory agencies, and other pertinent information required for Benefit Cost Analysis to meet 

FEMA grant requirements.  

The purpose of this RFP, and future services rendered, is to ensure Town compliance with Federal, State and Local Environmental 

Protections regulations, and to reduce risk of hazards to human health and the environment. Benefit Cost Analysis will be used for 

grant applications. 

The RFP(s) will request a detailed fee proposal including; maximum cost/ “not to exceed” total for the project. Confirmation of ability 

to perform design on time and budget within current workload will be required.   

 

Project Description  

The Town of Fairfield developed a town wide Flood and Erosion Master Plan in 2015. The Town with the assistance of MetroCOG 

and Nature Conservancy revised these resiliency plans into the 2019 MetroCOG Hazard Mitigation plan which is updated annually.  

https://fairfieldct.org/bids
mailto:cdyer@fairfieldct.org
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The Town of Fairfield, south of the I-95 corridor, was originally marshy land, that has been largely filled in and developed over time. 

Today, roughly 3000 structures sit in the Town’s flood plain, including many town buildings and historical sites, 5 churches and three 

schools, as well as roughly 15 % of the town's residential housing.  

In 2019, The Army Corp of Engineers (USACE) conducted a study that resulted in a multi section plan to protect the Fairfield 

shoreline. They assessed the risk as hundreds of millions of dollars in total estimated damages and a potential loss of life (referencing 

the 1938. 1954 and 1955 storm event loss of life) based on a 1% Annual Exceedence Probability (AEP) flood. Their plan, a plan that 

would protect most of the town infrastructure and residences from high flood events, had a projected cost of $546 million and while it 

had a positive cost benefit ratio of 1.7, it ultimately was not expected to meet the cost benefit thresholds to be approved for federal 

funding. The cost was considered too high for the town to proceed on its own.  

The Town has assessed the USACE plan and identified “critical” sections that, if implemented, have the potential to mitigate the 

majority of the damages and impact from major storm events. The Town is hoping to investigate lower cost alternatives to produce a 

more competitive BCR and then would be able to propose to move those projects forward. The town would expect to apply for 

individual grants for each of these sections as grant funding becomes available. In order to do that, we would need to update the 

USACE costs (USACE had provided “Project Costs” in 2019 dollars) and to perform a Benefit Cost Analysis, BCA.  

The request for this CIRCA grant would cover updated costs and a BCA for two to three of the sections of the town plan to confirm 

these are highly beneficial projects.  

The USACE plan and Fairfield comprehensive resiliency projects have identified project segment areas. The first three priorities are 

outlined below: 

 

 

First priority – We would propose to have the consultant update the USACE costs to provide for 2 “T- wall” sections of the plan from 

Jennings Beach, past the marina section and to create a 7 ft “T-wall” section that will tie into Ash Creek Open Space. Town would like 

to investigate more cost effective mitigation such as earthen berms/dikes and utilizing tidegate(s) instead of pump station. A core part 

of this will be determining the BCA for this part of the plan in order to move towards a grant ready project that would involve detailed 

design and eventual construction.  
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Second Priority – If funds permit, the Town would propose to work with the consultant to update the USACE costs for the Salt 

Meadow Road “T – wall” run. Cost saving and effective alternatives would also be investigated. A core part of this will be determining 

a BCA for this section in order to move towards a grant ready project for more detailed design and eventual construction.  

Third Priority – The Town of Fairfield has shovel ready plans (completed final design plans) for a combined self- regulating 

tidegates, culvert and sewer siphon project. Unfortunately, so far, the complex nature of the project has had limited grant opportunities. 

By developing a BCR, the Town could be able to determine if project meets various grant criteria that includes environmental benefits.  

For Priorities 1 and 2, The ACOE has provided drawings for each type of T-wall in the plan as well as Detailed cost breakouts 

including contingencies. The Town of Fairfield has recently updated its town assessor data base through a town wide appraisal and 

have current values which could be used for the BCA, where applicable. 

 

 

 

 
Moving forward with these sections of the Town plan would also provide resilient evacuation corridors for sections of the beach area 

and increase the safety of our town residents and the public during major storm events. Cost saving alternatives would be investigated 

as well, such as earthen dikes or berms, if BCA ratios need to become more competitive.  

The Town realizes that there may be limited funds. Although the Town feels all three priorities are beneficial, projects have been 

identified as Priority One, Two and Three. By obtaining the Benefit Cost Analysis, the Town can further prioritize its project pipeline 

efforts and identify relevant funding programs for those segments. The Town hopes to continue to make significant progress in 

improving resiliency in targeted or beneficial areas. 
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Project Workplan: (As per Grant Application. Project is slightly behind schedule. Effective Project Start Date:  NTP approx. one (1) 

week after bid opening   to   End Date:  04/01/2023 (“Term”). Unfortunately, the timeline has been reduced to 9.5 months.) 

 

 

 

Partner Roles and Responsibilities  

The Town would be partnering with MetroCOG, the Fairfield Conservation Department and the Fairfield Flood Erosion and Resiliency 

Board on this project. The majority of the project oversight and administration would be done by the Fairfield Engineering 

Department. MetroCOG and the Town would use this data to update the regional Hazard mitigation plan, and would plan to share it 

with other towns in the COG who might have similar Costal resilience challenges. If the project were to advance further in the pipeline 

with design plans, public informational meetings, neighborhood meetings and involvement with Ash Creek Conservation Association 

(for priority one and three) and Fairfield Open Space Manager are anticipated.  

 

Resume for team members:  

The core team from the Town of Fairfield would consist of William Hurley and Megha Jain from the Engineering Department – 

Resumes are attached. Members of Town Planning and Zoning including the Coastal Flood Plain Manager and members of Fairfield 

Flood Erosion and Resiliency Board will also provide active input and review.  

Consultants will be chosen for this project through Quality based Selection or by CIRCA recommendation /requirements. The Town 

has already performed request for qualifications for coastal engineering studies and has a group of 5 coastal engineering firms it can 

choose from. The Town can use QBS selection or perform a request for proposals if deemed necessary 
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Grant Information               

CIRCA’s Review Committee awarded Fairfield the Municipal Resilience Grant Program (MRGP) Application, “Fairfield Benefit Cost 

Analysis for Climate Resilience”. CIRCA will fund your MRGP request in the amount of $30,000 to carry out BCA activities as 

described in your attached work plan.  

Since one goal of CIRCA’s 2022 MRGP funding is to help municipalities leverage larger grants, CIRCA offered the following insight 

from review committee members as helpful feedback for future grant applications: while it may be appropriate to conduct BCA in a 

phased approach for different flood protection sections identified in your Flood Mitigation Plan, Riverside Drive/Ash Creek Resilience 

Plan, and the 2019 USACE study, these sections should be considered and presented as a connected, comprehensive strategy in federal 

grant applications.  This approach will also help with public engagement efforts and bring to light potential local opposition to portions 

of the overall strategy.  We commend the Town of Fairfield on their resilience planning efforts and appreciate the opportunity to 

support you through this MRGP grant award and our Resilient Connecticut Phase III capacity building work.   

 

MRGP grant payments will be made on a cost reimbursable basis at six months (upon receipt of a progress report) and twelve months 

(upon receipt of a final report). These reports and invoices should be sent to Katie Lund (katie.lund@uconn.edu) in our CIRCA office. 

10% of the amount awarded will be withheld until receipt of the final report.   

 

Town and Consultants are expected to acknowledge your MRGP funding contribution and, where appropriate, utilize the CIRCA logo 

in any publication or presentations produced as a result of this project.  The CIRCA logo can be accessed at: 

https://circa.uconn.edu/logo-acknowledgements/ 

 

Below is Grant and project information: 

1. Project Reference:  Fairfield MRGP 

 

a. Maximum Amount Payable: $30,000 This is for informational purposes.  Consultants are encouraged to charge the same or 

less than the grant amount but are not required to do so.   

 

b. Effective Project Start Date:  NTP approx. one (1) week after bid opening   to   End Date:  04/01/2023 (“Term”). 

Unfortunately, the timeline has been reduced to 9.5 months.  

 

2. Deliverables:  A six (6) month progress report (Sept) and 12 month final report (within thirty (30) days of the end date) to 

include the outcomes and impacts of the project. The report template can be found at: https://circa.uconn.edu/funds-muni-2/ 

 

3. Incorporated Documents: The following documents (“Incorporated Documents”) are hereby incorporated by reference into 

this Contract as if fully set forth herein, in the following order of precedence: 

 

a. State Terms and Conditions, which can be found at: https://uconncontracts.uconn.edu/wp-

content/uploads/sites/458/2019/08/State-Terms-Conditions-rev.-08.02.2019.pdf, as of the Effective Date. 

 

b. General Terms and Conditions of Purchase can be found at: 

https://contracting.ubs.uconn.edu/terms-and-conditions, as of the Effective Date. 

 

The Consultants are encouraged to listed previous experience in Benefit Cost analysis and to submit a list of personnel who are 

expected to work on the project.  Final Selection will be based on accepted proposal, experience and proposed bid.  In event of a tie, 

Quality based Selection will be performed on submitted proposal/materials.  

 

Submittal Requirements 

Firms replying to this RFP should be able to demonstrate familiarity and experience in computing Benefit Cost Analysis and for 

coastal engineering services for municipalities.  

This section of the RFP establishes certain standards of experience and financial capabilities that the Town for a Respondent to be 

deemed qualified.  Proposals that do not meet the prescribed standards will be considered by the Town to be non-responsive.  The 

mailto:katie.lund@uconn.edu
https://circa.uconn.edu/logo-acknowledgements/
https://circa.uconn.edu/funds-muni-2/
https://uconncontracts.uconn.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/458/2019/08/State-Terms-Conditions-rev.-08.02.2019.pdf
https://uconncontracts.uconn.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/458/2019/08/State-Terms-Conditions-rev.-08.02.2019.pdf
https://nam01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcontracting.ubs.uconn.edu%2Fterms-and-conditions&data=02%7C01%7Ckimberly.oconnor%40uconn.edu%7C50471c073ddf471a051408d772b357c8%7C17f1a87e2a254eaab9df9d439034b080%7C0%7C0%7C637103986899082269&sdata=u%2FfkO1Tp%2Bhr%2FkvUiaIegnT%2F2LJQeYeP%2FzjIHlpM3lLE%3D&reserved=0
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Town, at its sole discretion, will decide if a Respondent meets the standards.  Each Respondent must answer the questions honestly and 

completely; the following section describes the submission requirements: 

A. Provide an executive summary – maximum three (3) pages, single spaced – that includes the full name, tax identification number 

and main office address of the primary Respondent.  Include annual reports, 10k, balance sheets and any other information 

detailing the financial stability and organizational ability of the Respondent.  Respondent must have been in business for a 

minimum of three (3) years.   

B. Provide the business history of the primary Respondent.  Include any changes in the Respondent’s status as the result of merger, 

acquisition, spin-off, reorganization or other change in business organizational status.  Identify when the Respondent was 

organized and, if a corporation, where incorporated and number of years engaged in providing full service contract operations 

under that name. Provide a comprehensive description of Respondent’s corporate ownership and/or operating name. 

C. State whether any selectman or other officer, employee, or person who is payable in whole or in part from the Town currently has 

any direct or indirect personal interest in the Respondent.  If so, describe the circumstances. 

D. State whether the Respondent or any of its employees or officers has been named as a defendant in any litigation brought as a 

result of any contract operations for operations and maintenance.  If so, name the owner and describe the circumstances, including 

the outcome of the litigation. 

E. State whether the Respondent has ever been terminated, fired, or replaced on a project other than those contracts that have been 

terminated due to completion. If so, name the owner and describe the circumstances. 

F. The primary Respondent must demonstrate the capability to successfully analyze the benefit costs associated with Climate 

Resiliency and related services.  Describe Respondent’s experience and provide documentation on expertise. 

G. Include resumes and project lists of the key personnel who are proposed to work on these future projects. Any licensing and 

certifications shall be listed in this section. 

H. Provide a complete list of specialized experience and technical competence. 

I. Identify any subcontractors, if any, who will perform work on this project. The Town retains the right to reject any and all 

proposed subcontractors.  This provision applies through the term of the contract. 

J. State your relevant prior experience, including a list of all clients served during the past five years, complete with names, 

addresses and telephone numbers of contact persons for each.  Provide the client name, contact, address, and phone number of at 

least one municipal project that Respondent has designed, if available.  

K. Provide examples of work produced for similar projects completed within the past five years. 

L. The firm must have had demonstrable experience with all regulatory agencies having jurisdiction over the site.  Work experience 

within Connecticut and with similar projects is essential. 

M. Include hourly rates per discipline / function for personnel listed in section G.  

N. Include a LUMP SUM PRICE to perform the Benefit Cost Analysis as detailed in this specification. 

 

Negotiations with Respondents 

The responsibility for the final selection rests solely with the Town; the Town may commence negotiations with the Responder who 

scores highest during the selection process, or at its sole option may cancel the process at any time.  During this negotiation phase, the 

Town may discuss any cost, charge or service.  The Town shall not be liable to any firm for any costs associated with responding to the 

Request for Qualifications and Proposals, and the firm’s participation in any interview, or for any costs associated with negotiations. 

 

RFQ Lists 

This Request for Statements of Qualifications will be listed on the Town’s web site.  The Town of Fairfield shall not be held 

responsible for any oral instructions. Any changes to this Request for Statements of Qualifications will be in the form of an addendum, 

which will be furnished to all registered Request for Statements of Qualifications (RFQ) holders. 
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Town Rights 

The Town of Fairfield reserves the right to reject any or all Statements of Qualifications, to waive any informality or irregularity in any 

Statement of Qualifications received, and to be the sole judge of the merits of the respective Statements of Qualifications received. No 

binding contract will exist between the submitter and the Town until the Town executes a written contract. 

 

Contact with Town Employees 

All firms interested in this project (including the firm’s employees, representatives, agents, lobbyists, attorneys, and subconsultants) 

will refrain, under penalty of disqualification, from direct or indirect contact for the purpose of influencing the selection or creating 

bias in the selection process with any person who may play a part in the selection process. This policy is intended to create a level 

playing field for all potential firms, to assure that contract decisions are made in public and to protect the integrity of the selection 

process. All contact on this selection process should be addressed to the authorized representative identified below. 
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PURCHASING AUTHORITY 

TOWN OF FAIRFIELD 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR BIDDERS 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF BID 

 

RFP SUBMISSIONS PROPOSALS 

Bid proposals are to be submitted in a sealed envelope and clearly marked on the outside “RFP #2022-200” including all outer packaging such as 

DHL, FedEx, UPS, etc. All prices and notations must be printed in ink or typewritten. No erasures are permitted. Bid proposals are to be in the office 

of the Purchasing Authority, First Floor, Independence Hall, 725 Old Post Road, Fairfield, Connecticut, prior to date and time specified, at which 

time they will be publicly opened. 

 

RIGHT TO ACCEPT / REJECT 

AFTER REVIEW OF ALL FACTORS, TERMS AND CONDITIONS, INCLUDING PRICE, THE PURCHASING AUTHORITY OF THE TOWN 

OF FAIRFIELD RESERVES THE RIGHT TO REJECT ANY AND ALL BIDS, OR ANY PART THEREOF, OR WAIVE DEFECTS IN SAME, 

OR ACCEPT ANY PROPOSAL DEEMED TO BE IN THE BEST INTEREST OF THE TOWN OF FAIRFIELD. 

 

QUESTIONS 

Questions concerning conditions, bidding guidelines and specifications should only be directed in writing to: 

     

   Ms. Corinne M. Dyer, Senior Buyer: CDyer@fairfieldct.org  

 

Inquiries must reference date of bid opening, requisition or contract number, and must be received no later than as indicated in the bid documents 

prior to date of bid opening. Failure to comply with these conditions will result in the bidder waiving the right to dispute the bid specifications and 

conditions. 

 

PRICES 

Prices quoted must be firm, for acceptance by the Town of Fairfield, for a period of ninety (90) days. Prices shall include all applicable duties. 

Bidders shall be required to deliver awarded items at prices quoted in their original bid. 

 

F.O.B. DESTINATION 

Prices quoted shall be Net – Delivered to destination. Bids quoting other than F.O.B. Destination may be rejected. 

 

PERMITS 

The contractor will be responsible for securing all necessary permits, state and local, as required by the Town of Fairfield. The Town will waive its 

application and permit fees for Town of Fairfield projects. 

 

PAYMENT PROCEDURES 

No voucher, claim or charge against the Town shall be paid without the approval of the Fiscal Officer for correctness and legality. Appropriate 

checks shall be drawn by the Fiscal Officer for approved claims or charges and they shall be valid without countersignature unless the Board of 

Selectmen otherwise prescribed. 

 

PAYMENT PERIOD 

The Town of Fairfield shall put forth its best effort to make payment within thirty days (30) after delivery of the item acceptance of the work, or 

receipt of a properly completed invoice, whichever is later. Payment period shall be net thirty days (30) unless otherwise specified. For projects that 

do not require a performance or bid bond, The Town of Fairfield reserves the right to retain five percent (5%) of total bid amount, which is payable 

ninety (90) days after final payment or acceptance of the work. 

 

THE CONTRACTOR 

The Contractor for the work described shall be thoroughly familiar with the requirements of all specifications, and the actual physical conditions of 

various job sites. The submission of a proposal shall be construed as evidence that the Contractor has examined the actual job conditions, 

requirements, and specifications. Any claim for labor, equipment, or materials required, or difficulties encountered which could have been foreseen 

had such an examination been carefully made will not be recognized. 

 

ASSIGNMENT OF CONTRACT 

No contract may be assigned or transferred without the consent of the Purchasing Authority. 

 

CATALOGUE REFERENCE 

Unless expressly stated otherwise, any and all reference to commercial types, sales, trade names and catalogues are intended to be descriptive only 

and not restrictive; the intent is to indicate the kind and quality of the articles that will be acceptable. Bids on other equivalent makes, or with 

reference to other catalogue items will be considered. The bidder is to clearly state exactly what will be furnished. Where possible and feasible, 

submit an illustration, descriptive material, and/or product sample. 

 

 

mailto:CDyer@fairfieldct.org
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INSURANCE 

 

A.  The Town of Fairfield is requiring insurance coverage as listed below for this work. 

Note: The term "General Contractor" (hereinafter called the “Contractor”) shall also include their respective agents, representatives, employees and 

subcontractors; and the term " Town of Fairfield” (hereinafter called the "Town") shall include their respective officers, agents, servants, officials, 

employees, volunteers, boards and commissions. 

Note: The term "Town of Fairfield" or "Town" is to be taken to mean Town of Fairfield and the Fairfield Board of Education when the project 

includes the Board of Education. 

At least five days before the Contract is executed and prior to commencement of work there under the Contractor will be required to submit to the 

Town of Fairfield, Risk Manager, 725 Old Post Road, Fairfield, CT 06824 a certificate of insurance, executed by an authorized representative of the 

insurance company, satisfactory to the Town’s Risk Manager and in an acceptable form. The Town always reserves the right to reject insurance 

companies, if approved insurance policies cannot be provided the contract shall be terminated. 

INSURANCE RIDER 

Without limiting the Contractor’s liability, the Contractor shall provide and maintain in full force and effect at all times until all work required by the 

contract has been fully completed, except that Products/Completed Operations coverage shall be maintained for five (5) years, insurance coverage 

related to its services in connection with the project in compliance with the following requirements. 

 

The insurance required shall be written for not less than the scope and limits of insurance specified hereunder, or required by applicable federal, state 

and/or municipal law, regulation or requirement, whichever coverage requirement is greater. It is agreed and understood that the scope and limits of 

insurance specified hereunder are minimum requirements and shall in no way limit or preclude the Town from requiring additional limits and 

coverage to be provided under the Contractor's policies. 

 

B.  Minimum Scope and Limits of Insurance: 

Worker's Compensation Insurance:  

 In accordance with the requirements of the laws of the State of Connecticut. 

 Five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000) Employer Liability each accident. 

 Five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000) Employer Liability each employee by disease. 

 Five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000) Employer Liability policy limit coverage for disease. 

Commercial General Liability Insurance:  

 Bodily Injury, Personal Injury and Property Damage one million dollars ($1,000,000) each occurrence, two million dollars ($2,000,000) 

aggregate. 

 Products/Completed Operations one million dollars ($1,000,000) each occurrence, two million dollars ($2,000,000) aggregate. 

Automobile Liability Insurance:  

 A combined single limit of one million dollars ($1,000,000). This policy shall include all liability of the Contractor arising from the 

operation of all self-owned motor vehicles used in the performance of the Contract; and shall also include a “non-Ownership” provision 

covering the operation of motor vehicles not owned by the Contractor, but used in the performance of the work, and, rider CA9948 or 

equivalent 
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Errors and Omissions/Professional Liability: 

 One million dollars ($1,000,000) each occurrence, two million dollars ($2,000,000) aggregate.  

Umbrella/Excess Liability Insurance: 

 Five million dollars ($5,000,000) each occurrence, five million dollars ($5,000,000) aggregate.  Such coverage must be follow form over 

Worker’s Compensation, Commercial General Liability, Pollution Liability and Automobile Liability. 

Indemnification:  The Contractor shall defend, indemnify and save harmless the Town and its officers, agents, servants, officials, employees, 

volunteers, boards and commissions from and against any and all claims, demands, suits, proceedings, liabilities, judgments, awards, losses, 

damages, costs and expenses of any nature, including attorneys’ fees, on account of bodily injury, sickness, disease, death or any other damages or 

loss sustained by any person or persons or injury or damage to or destruction of any property, directly or indirectly arising out of, relating to, or in 

connection with the work called for in the Contract, whether or not due or claimed to be due in whole or in part to the active, passive or concurrent 

negligence, fault or contractual default of the Contractor, its officers, agents, servants or employees, any of its sub-contractors, the Town, any of its 

respective officers, agents, servants, officials, employees, volunteers, boards and commissions and/or any other person or persons, and whether or not 

such claims, demands, suits or proceedings are just, unjust, groundless, false, or fraudulent, and the Contractor shall and does hereby assume and 

agrees to pay for the defense of all such claims, demands, suits and proceedings, provided, however, that the Contractor shall not be required to 

indemnify the Town, its officers, agents, servants, officials, employees, volunteers, boards and commissions, against any such damages occasioned 

solely by acts or omissions of the Town, its officers, agents, servants, officials, employees, volunteers, boards and commissions, other than 

supervisory acts or omissions of the Town, its officers, agents, servants, officials, employees, volunteers, boards and commissions, in connection 

with the work called for in the Contract.  

"Tail" Coverage: If any of the required liability insurance is on a claims-made basis, "tail" coverage will be required at the completion of this 

contract for a duration of 36 months, or the maximum time period reasonably available in the marketplace. The Contractor shall furnish certification 

of "tail" coverages described or continuous "claims made" liability coverage for 36 months following Contract completion. Continuous "claims 

made" coverage will be acceptable in lieu of "tail" coverage provided its retroactive date is on or before the effective date of this Contract. If 

continuous "claims made" coverage is used, the Contractor shall be required to keep the coverage in effect for duration of not less than 36 months 

from the end of the Contract. 

Acceptability of Insurers: The Contractor's policies shall be written by insurance companies licensed to do business in the State of Connecticut, 

with an A.M. Best rating of A- XV or otherwise acceptable by the Town's Risk Manager. 

Subcontractors: The Contractor shall require subcontractors to provide the same "minimum scope and limits of insurance" as required herein, with 

the exception of Errors and Omissions/Professional Liability insurance/Fiduciary Liability, unless Errors and Omissions/Professional 

Liability/Fiduciary Liability insurance is applicable to the work performed by the subcontractor. All Certificates of Insurance shall be provided to 

and approved by the Town’s Risk Manager prior to the commencement of work, as required herein. 

Aggregate Limits: It is agreed that the Contractor shall notify the Town when fifty percent (50%) of the aggregate limits are eroded during the 

contract term. If the aggregate limit is eroded for the full limit, the Contractor agrees to reinstate or purchase additional limits to meet the minimum 

limit requirements stated herein. The premium shall be paid by the Contractor. 

Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions: Any deductible or self-insured retention must be declared to, and approved by, the Town. All deductibles 

or self-insured retentions are the sole responsibility of the Contractor to pay and/or to indemnify.  Under no circumstances will the Town be 

responsible for paying any deductible or self-insured retentions related to this Contract 

Notice of Cancellation or Non-renewal: Each insurance policy required shall be endorsed to state that coverage shall not be suspended, voided, 

cancelled, or reduced in coverage or in limits except after 30 days prior written notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, has been given to 

the Town, (provided ten (10) days’ prior written notice shall be sufficient in the case of termination for nonpayment). 

 

Waiver of Governmental Immunity: Unless requested otherwise by the Town, the Contractor and its insurer shall waive governmental immunity as 

defense and shall not use the defense of governmental immunity in the adjustment of claims or in the defense of any suit brought against the Town. 

Additional Insured: The liability insurance coverage, except Errors and Omissions, Professional Liability or Workers Compensation, if included, 

required for the performance of the Contract shall include the Town as Additional Insured but only with respect to the Contractor’s activities to be 

performed under this Contract. Coverage shall be primary and non-contributory with any other insurance and self-insurance and contain no special 

limitations on the scope of protection afforded to the Town of Fairfield.  The Town and/or its representative retain the right to make inquiries to the 

Contractor, its agents or broker and insurer directly. 

Waiver of Subrogation: A waiver of subrogation in favor of the Town is required on all policies. 
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Waiver/Estoppel:  Neither approval by the Town nor failure to disapprove the insurance furnished by the Contractor shall relieve the Contractor of 

the Contractor’s full responsibility to provide insurance as required under this Contract. 

Contractor’s Insurance Additional Remedy: Compliance with the insurance requirements of this Contract shall not limit the liability of the 

Contractor or its Sub-Contractors/Firms, employees or agents to the Town or others.  Any remedy provided to the Town shall be in addition to, and 

not in lieu of, any other remedy available under this Contract or otherwise. 

Certificate of Insurance: As evidence of the insurance coverage required by this Contract, the Contractor shall furnish Certificate(s) of Insurance to 

the Town’s Risk Manager prior to the award of the Contract if required by the Bid document, but in all events prior to Contractor’s commencement 

of work under this Contract. The Certificate(s) will specify all parties who are endorsed on the policy as Additional Insured (or Loss Payees). The 

certificates and endorsements for each insurance policy are to be signed by a person authorized by the insurer to bind coverage on its behalf. 

Renewals of expiring certificates shall be filed thirty (30) days prior to expiration. The Town reserves the right to require complete, certified copies 

of all required policies at any time. All insurance documents required should be mailed to Town of Fairfield, Chief Financial Officer, 725 Old Post 

Road, Fairfield, CT 06824 and Town of Fairfield, Risk Manager, 725 Old Post Road, Fairfield, CT 06824. 

OSHA 

The bidder will certify all equipment complies with all regulations and conditions stipulated under the Williams-Steiger Occupational Safety and 

Health Act of 1971, as amended. The successful bidder will further certify that all items furnished under this project will conform and comply with 

Federal and State of Connecticut OSHA standards. The successful bidder will agree to indemnify and hold harmless the Town of Fairfield for any 

and all damages that may be assessed against the Town. 

 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

No officer or employee or member of any elective or appointive board, commission or committee of the Town, whether temporary or permanent, 

shall have or acquire any financial interest gained from a successful bid, direct or indirect, aggregating more than one hundred dollars ($100.00), in 

any project, matter, contract or business within his/her jurisdiction or the jurisdiction of the board, commission, or committee of which he/she is a 

member. Nor shall the officer / employee / member have any financial interest, direct or indirect, aggregating more than one hundred dollars 

($100.00) in any contract or proposed contract for materials or services to be furnished or used in connection with any project, matter or thing which 

comes under his/her jurisdiction or the jurisdiction of the board, commission, committee of which he/she is a member. 

 

NON-WAIVER CLAUSE 

The failure by the Town to require performance of any provision of this bid shall not affect the Town’s right to require performance at any time 

thereafter, nor shall a waiver of any breach or default of a contract award constitute a waiver of any subsequent breach or default or a waiver of the 

provision itself.  

 

ATTORNEY FEES 

In the event of litigation relating to the subject matter of this bid document or any resulting contract award, the non-prevailing party shall reimburse 

the prevailing party for all reasonable attorney fees and costs resulting therefrom. 

 

EXCEPTION TO SPECIFICATIONS 

No protest regarding the validity or appropriateness of the specifications or of the Invitation for Bids will be considered, unless the protest is filed in 

writing with the Purchasing Authority prior to the closing date for the bids. All bid proposals rendered shall be considered meeting the attached 

specifications unless exceptions are noted on a separate page dated and signed by the bidder. 

 

UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED 

It will be assumed that all terms and conditions and specifications will be complied with and will be considered as part of the Bid Proposal. 

 

TAX EXEMPT 

Federal Tax Exemption 06-6001998. 

Exempt from State Sales Tax under State General Statues Chapter 219-Section 12-412 Subsection A. 

No exemption certificates are required and none will be issued. 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 
 

  

 



ADDENDUM #1 

RFP 2022-200 

8 June 2022– It is intended that this Addendum incorporating the following corrections, revisions, additions, 

deletions and clarifications become part of the Contract Documents including pricing as submitted 

 

 

Question: Will the conceptual T-Wall designs prepared as part of the USACE effort be provided to the Client?  

 

Answer: The Town will provide whatever information we have.  If not Consultant can directly contact 

USACE and/ or the Town will assist in gathering info. 
 

Question: Is there any information, reports, drawings, etc. from the prior USACE effort that can be shared?   

Answer: Info is not immediately available but Town will share info. 

 

Question: The USACE used the HEC-FDA software to calculate damages in the previous study.  Will the data 

files generated and used by USACE be available to the selected consultant, or will the selected consultant need 

to generate new input files?   

 

Answer: We will have to check with US ACE. 

 

Question: Does the Town prefer the use of FEMA’s software to generate project benefits and costs instead of 

the HEC-FDA software?   

 

Answer: Town will be applying for grants, mainly FEMA so we would assume FEMA software unless FEMA 

accepts HEC-FDA for grant applications, then we will rely on Consultant suggestions. 
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Benefit Cost Analysis for Climate Resiliency

RFP #2022-200

Submitted to:
Town of Fairfield

ne 8, 2022 

ZA GeoEnvironmental, Inc. 

9 Vanderbilt Ave (Headquarter)   │   Norwood, MA 02062  
1-278-3700 

 Nutmeg Drive, Suite 325   │   Trumbull, CT 06611  30 Offices Nationwide 
3-380-8188  www.gza.com 



An Equal Opportunity Employer M/F/V/H 

June 8, 2022 
GZA File No. 01.P000287.23 

Town of Fairfield 
Purchasing Authority 
First Floor, Independence Hall 
725 Old Post Road 
Fairfield, CT 06824 

Re:  Request for Proposal - Fairfield RFP # 2022-200 
Engineering Services for Benefit Cost Analysis for Climate Resiliency 

  Fairfield, CT 

Dear Ms. Corinne Dyer: 

GZA GeoEnvironmental, Inc. (GZA) is pleased to have the opportunity to submit this proposal 
and to tender an offer to provide professional engineering services requested by the Town 
of Fairfield, Connecticut for the Benefit Cost Analysis (BCA) for Climate Resiliency. 

Our understanding of the scope of the project is based on reviewing the Request for Proposal 
(RFP #2022-200) issued on May 25, 2022.  GZA is well qualified to provide the services 
described herein and is committed to working with the Town of Fairfield for the BCA for 
Climate Resiliency.  

GZA is a specialized multidisciplinary engineering firm with a staff of over 680 engineers, 
scientists and support personnel located in 30 offices throughout the Northeast, Mid-
Atlantic, and Great Lakes regions, including multiple offices in Connecticut.  The proposed 
project personnel have extensive experience in engineering design, natural hazards 
characterization, and benefit-cost analysis.  GZA has been involved in developing 
maintenance/repair programs for municipalities, state and federal agencies, port authorities, 
public utilities, and marina terminals.  Our experience with designing waterfront structures, 
dredging operations, permitting various waterfront structures, and providing construction 
administration services located along the Northeast coast makes GZA a qualified choice for 
this undertaking.  

GZA approaches projects with teams comprised of the best qualified personnel from one or 
more offices. This project will be completed by GZA GeoEnvironmental, Inc. from our 
(headquarters) Norwood, MA office, with coastal engineering expertise drawn from our 
Trumbull, CT offices as appropriate.  

For this project, we have gathered a team of professionals who have specifically devoted 
large portions of their careers to successfully providing services for waterfront facilities. 
Our team combines their abilities to provide accurate site-specific inspections, state of the 
art coastal engineering designs, permitting, cost estimating and in-depth construction 
administrative services.   
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Proactive by DesignWe will provide the scope of services described in our proposal and commit to keep the project team at your disposal 
for the duration of the contract. We feel that the proposed Project Team can provide key benefits to the Town of 
Fairfield, particularly in our familiarity with the analysis and design of coastal structures and our experience in assisting 
our clients through the regulatory processes of the Connecticut Department of Energy and Environmental Protection 
(DEEP) agency and the US Army Corps of Engineers (USACE).   

GZA was pre-qualified by CIRCA in 2020 as a climate resiliency planning and design consultant under the Resilient 
Connecticut Project, as part of the HUD National Disaster Resilience Competition. In 2022 CIRCA awarded GZA a contract 
under Resilient Connecticut Phase III for the Stratford South End Project. This planning effort will: 1) focus on detailed 
review of the proposed South End and Employment Growth District’s flood mitigation strategies from Stratford’s 
community resilience plan; 2) provide an assessment of ongoing implementation challenges; and 3) recommend 
updated or alternative strategies that can be developed as implementable projects (including BCA of 3 projects) to 
advance the Town’s resilience goals.  As such, GZA is well positioned to apply lessons learned from the Stratford project 
to this opportunity. 

GZA has a long history of successfully completing coastal engineering projects including hazard evaluations, vulnerability 
assessments, feasibility studies, conceptual/engineering design, permitting, as well as benefit-cost analysis for proposed 
construction activities.  We feel that our Team is uniquely qualified for this project for we have worked with similar 
municipalities throughout the Northeast.  Several summary Project Descriptions have been included in our proposal in 
Appendix D. 

Our proposal includes the following sections which demonstrate our experience and ability to complete the 
requirements of the RFP as well as the required information requested by the Town: 

Appendix A  – Company Information 
Appendix B  – Scope of Work and Budget 
Appendix C  – Schedule  
Appendix D – Related Experience and References 

We trust that this package provides all the information that you have requested.  Please do not hesitate to contact us 
should you have any questions or require any additional information. 

Very truly yours, 

GZA GEOENVIRONMENTAL, INC.  

Bin Wang, P.E., CFM Matthew T. Taverna, P.E. 
Project Manager/Senior Consultant Senior Project Manager 

David M. Leone, P.E., CFM Samuel J. Bell, CFM 
Principal-In-Charge Consultant Reviewer 
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Appendix A.  Company Information

Request for Proposal  
Engineering Services 

Benefit Cost Analysis for Climate Resiliency 
Town of Fairfield 

RFP # 2022-200

Proposer Team 

1. Name of Proposer:  

GZA GeoEnvironmental, Inc.  

Tax ID 04-2393851 

2. Permanent main office address:  

GZA’s corporate offices are located at:  
249 Vanderbilt Avenue 
Norwood, MA 02062   

This Contract will be managed from the Trumbull, CT office located at:  
35 Nutmeg Drive 
Suite 325 
Trumbull, CT 06611 

3. When organized:  
Founded in 1964 as Goldberg-Zoino & Associates, Inc. 

Corporation: Commonwealth of Massachusetts 

Total years in business – 58 years. 
Known as Goldberg-Zoino & Associates, Inc. until 1989 (25 years), then became GZA GeoEnvironmental, Inc. 

4. Financials:  

GZA generates approximately $160 million in annual revenue. The Company can borrow up to $15 million through March 2024, 

pursuant to a revolving credit line agreement with a commercial bank.  There was no outstanding balance on the credit line as of 

the end of the end of the last fiscal year (February 25, 2022) and as of June 7, 2022.  

GZA audited financial report for fiscal year 2022 is included in Appendix A.  

5. Contact Information: Phone, E-mail:   

Bin Wang, P.E. (MA), Certified Floodplain Manager (CFM), Senior Consultant 
Office Phone: 781-278-5700 
Direct: 781-278-5809 

Email: Bin.Wang@gza.com

GZA is an employee-owned company.  There are no employees with an ownership percentage greater than 4%.  The company is 
governed by a Board of Directors with day-to-day operations managed by the President and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Patrick 
Sheehan.  All principals of the company are authorized to bind GZA in negotiations with the Town of Fairfield including our proposed 
project principal, Mr. David M. Leone.   

There are no previous or current Town employees who have personal interest in the well-being of GZA GeoEnvironmental, Inc.  

GZA has not been terminated, fired or been replaced on a project other than those contracts that have been terminated due to 
completion. 

GZA has not failed to complete any awarded contract. 

GZA has not defaulted on a contract. 
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Request for Proposal  
Engineering Services 

Benefit Cost Analysis for Climate Resiliency 
Town of Fairfield 

RFP # 2022-200

KEY PERSONNEL 

We have selected key individuals to form the nucleus of the project team. The role of each key member along with a brief description 
of their background is presented below.  The Team members that have been selected for this project have worked on numerous 
waterfront planning and improvement projects for municipalities and private sectors along the East Coast.  Resumes are included as 
attachments in Appendix A.  Several samples of relevant project experience are also included in Appendix D for your review. 

David M. Leone, P.E., CFM, is a civil engineer in GZA’s Water Services Group who specializes in flood 
hazard analysis, hazard risk management, and dam engineering. He has over 24 years of experience, all 
with GZA, and is a licensed professional engineer in five states (Connecticut, New York, Massachusetts, 
Michigan, and Rhode Island).  Mr. Leone’s flood hazard assessment and hazard risk management 
expertise includes hazard vulnerability assessments focusing on surface water hydrology, open-channel 
hydraulics, and two- and three-dimensional hydrodynamics. Mr. Leone has extensive experience with 
analysis of both riverine and coastal environments, including the combined effects of stormwater, 
groundwater, and riverine and coastal flood mechanisms. His expertise includes simulation of 
rainfall/runoff and hydrodynamic processes, hydraulic structures, and mapping using state-of-the 

practice computer software and geographic information systems (GIS).   

Bin Wang, P.E., CFM, will serve as the Project Manager and be your primary point of contact for this 
project.  Bin is a Senior Consultant in the Water Resources/Coastal Engineering Group and has been with 
GZA since 2004. Her academic background includes geotechnical/structural/earthquake engineering, 
finite element method, probability theory and stochastic modeling. Her responsibilities at GZA include 
geo-structure finite element modeling for engineering analysis/design, statistical analyses, numerical 
modeling on coastal storm surge, wind-wave action, rainfall/runoff, groundwater seepage and surface 
water hydraulics. Her experiences also include natural hazard evaluation and vulnerability assessment 
due to climate change and sea level rise.  Ms. Wang is FEMA Benefit-Cost Analysis (version 6.0) trained 
and a Certified Floodplain Manager by the Association of State Floodplain Managers (ASFPM).   Ms. 
Wang currently serves as the Chair of the Massachusetts Association for Floodplain Management.  

Samuel J. Bell, CFM, will be is a Senior Planner with GZA with 18 years of leadership and management 
experience covering natural hazard mitigation and resiliency planning, hazard mitigation assistance, 
environmental planning and permitting, community education and outreach, and disaster resiliency 
research. Mr. Bell also has extensive experience leading interdisciplinary teams in the development of 
numerous coastal resilience, climate adaptation and natural hazard mitigation plans in the Northeast.  
From 2007 to 2010 Mr. Bell served as a Hazard Mitigation Grant and Planning Team Lead for the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). From 2011 to early 2014, Mr. Bell assisted FEMA in revising 
risk evaluation and program effectiveness tools that included the FEMA Benefit-Cost Analysis (BCA) Tool 
Version 5.0. To assist stakeholders in effectively using FEMA’s BCA Tool and HMA grant programs, Mr. 

Bell provided trainings throughout the U.S. including trainings in the State of Massachusetts.  Mr. Bell is FEMA BCA (version 6.0) 
trained.  
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Benefit Cost Analysis for Climate Resiliency 
Town of Fairfield 

RFP # 2022-200

Matthew T. Taverna, P.E. will serve as a senior coastal engineering out of the Trumbull office.  Mr. Taverna, 
Senior Project Manager, has been involved with a variety of coastal engineering projects for municipal, 
industrial, commercial and residential marine facilities.  Mr. Taverna has inspected and performed structural 
analysis assessments on timber, concrete and steel elements. He has designed and prepared construction 
documents for timber, concrete and steel bulkheads including tie-back systems.  He has obtained federal, 
state and local permits for shoreline stabilization, marina improvements, dredge operation and various 
municipal, commercial and residential projects. Mr. Taverna has performed above and below water 
inspections and prepared condition assessment reports that include estimated construction costs for 
repairs to marinas and berthing facilities for small craft vessels.

In addition to the staff identified above, GZA has approximately three dozen coastal, marine and waterfront engineers and scientists 
that can be called upon when and as needed to provide expertise in various specialties for marine and waterfront work.  GZA also has 
a considerable staff of geotechnical, civil, structural, and environmental engineers and scientists to provide any assistance that may 
be needed. 



 

 
GZA.  Known for excellence.  Built on trust. 

 
 
Education 
B.S., Civil Engineering, Worcester  
Polytechnic Institute, 1996 
M.S., Civil Engineering, University of  
Massachusetts, Lowell, 1998 
 
Licenses & Registrations 
Professional Engineer: 
Massachusetts, #45877 
Connecticut, #28563 
Rhode Island, #9778 
New York, #096864-1 
 
Areas of Specialization 
• Flood Hazard Vulnerability 

Assessment 
• Flood Resiliency Planning and Design 
• FEMA Floodplain Mapping Revisions 

and Analyses 
• Dam and Levee Engineering 

Assessment and Design 
• Dam Emergency Action Planning 
• Surface Water Hydrology 
• Hydraulic Engineering 
• Scour at Bridges 
• 2-D Hydrodynamic Modeling 
• Stormwater Management and 

Design 
• Water Resources Management 
• Geographic Information Systems 
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David M. Leone, P.E.  
Associate Principal/Hydraulic Engineer/Floodplain Subject Matter Expert 
 
Summary of Experience 

Mr. Leone is a civil engineer in GZA’s Water Services Group who specializes in flood hazard 
analysis, hazard risk management, and dam engineering. He has over 19 years of 
experience, all with GZA, and is a licensed professional engineer in four states (New York, 
Massachusetts, Connecticut, and Rhode Island).  

Mr. Leone’s flood hazard assessment and hazard risk management expertise includes 
hazard vulnerability assessments focusing on surface water hydrology, open-channel 
hydraulics, and two- and three-dimensional hydrodynamics. Mr. Leone has extensive 
experience with analysis of both riverine and coastal environments, including the 
combined effects of stormwater, groundwater, and riverine and coastal flood 
mechanisms. His expertise includes simulation of rainfall/runoff and hydrodynamic 
processes, hydraulic structures, and mapping using state-of-the practice computer 
software and geographic information systems (GIS). Mr. Leone is well-versed in several 
hydrologic computer applications including HEC-HMS, HEC-RAS, ADCIRC, SWAN, 
SWMM, and FLO-2D, and has also developed site-specific computer models for both 
watershed and reservoir-specific water balance simulation.  

Relevant Project Experience 

Principal-in-Charge, Raise Shorelines: Edgemere Drainage Study, Queens, New York. 
As part of New York City’s initiative to protect against sea level rise, GZA is performing a 
complex drainage study for a low-lying part of the Rockaways that was inundated by 
Hurricane Sandy. GZA’s overall approach is to:  

1) Use “state-of-the-science” methodologies, including numerical models, for 
characterizing flood hazards and sea level rise,  

2) Calibrate our hazard analyses to available observed data collected by GZA,  
3) Use FEMA methods such as HAZUS-MH for estimating losses that would otherwise be 

experienced in lieu of the proposed flood protections,  
4) Use an integrated approach for improvement projects including both structures and 

natural and nature-based features, and  
5) Use GIS for information management, including the GZA GeoTool© for the 

visualization of results.  

Flood Assessment of Co-generation Facility, Linden, New Jersey. GZA was 
subcontracted by a power producer effected by Superstorm Sandy to develop a flood 
frequency curve and conceptual flood mitigation alternatives. The work included 
development of a coastal storm surge flood-frequency curve using statistical analyses of 
tidal gage data, 2-dimensional computer modeling of synthetic hurricanes, and overland 
flooding analysis with FLO-2D. GZA also collaborated with the owner and its Contractor 
to develop conceptual designs for flood protection, including perimeter barriers. GZA used 
its models to assist in the design and to assess post-construction flood impacts to the site 
and surrounding areas. 

Western Gateway Climate Adaptation and Resiliency Plan, Glen Cove, Nassau County, 
New York. Responsible for developing resiliency planning and an implementation plan 
that prioritize actions in the Glen Cove area based on a systematic ranking. GZA is 
developing recommendations in coordination with the Project Team. We will organize the 
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Associate Principal/Hydraulic Engineer 
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community resiliency planning results in a priority matrix which ranks sites and actions based on risk to (i.e., vulnerability x 
consequence) and importance to the City. This plan will allow for concrete actions to improve the resilience of the area under our 
changing climate. 

Senior Project Manager/Principal-in-Charge, Post-Fukushima Flooding Hazard Re-evaluations, Indian Point and other 
numerous sites. After the devastating earthquake and tsunami at Fukushima, Japan, the Nuclear Regulatory Commission required 
that all U.S. nuclear power plants re-evaluate their seismic and flood vulnerability, including Indian Point Energy Station on the 
Hudson River in upstate New York. GZA was selected to characterize the external flood hazards at 35% (23 plants) of U.S. nuclear 
power plants, representing five different power providers. Mr. Leone has served as Senior Project Manager (lead engineer) or 
Principal in Charge for external flood hazard reevaluation of over 20 nuclear power plant sites throughout the U.S. These include sites 
on the Great Lakes, Atlantic Coast, and the Gulf of Mexico. Riverine sites include major rivers, within a large watershed, such as the 
Mississippi, Arkansas, Hudson and Connecticut Rivers.  

Consultant/Reviewer, City of New York, Engineering Assessment of Five Dams, New York City, New York. The City of New York, 
through the Department of Environmental Protection, has retained GZA to provide visual inspection, engineering assessments, 
monthly inspections, and other dam safety engineering services of five in-city reservoir dams which are or once were part of the City’s 
water supply system. GZA is providing dam engineering assistance to the City, as they develop a long-term dam safety program for 
these reservoirs. Mr. Leone is served as project manager for the effort from 2010 through 2013 and provided oversight to GZA’s 
technical staff for the project in addition to serving as a technical resource for the City. Since 2014, Mr. Leone has served as 
Consultant/Reviewer for the work. 

Principal-in-Charge, Post-Fukushima Flooding, Focused Evaluation, confidential sites. As part of the NRC’s post-Fukushima 
initiatives, nuclear plants were requested to develop flood response strategies to newly reevaluated, beyond design basis external 
flood hazards. GZA is supporting several sites’ response to these flood hazards through additional, detailed hydrodynamic modeling 
of coastal, local intense precipitation, stormwater, dam failure, and combined flood effect hazards. We are also providing hydraulic 
engineering support for selection and evaluation of flood response procedures and portable/temporary flood protection, FLEX, 
measures. Mr. Leone is Principal-in-Charge for the work, at locations in New York, Connecticut, and Virginia. 

Senior Technical Consultant, Town Wide Drainage Evaluation, Comprehensive Stream Improvement Plan, and Downtown 
Resiliency and Recovery Plan, Westport, Connecticut. The Town has experienced flooding due to the inability of the existing 
stormwater infrastructure to manage local intense precipitation, resulting in localized areas of “flash” flooding. The purpose of the 
first study is to provide an analysis of the watersheds of 8 streams in Town, map the current flood lines for the 10, 25, 50, 100, and 
500-year return period, 24-hour duration storms, and recommend future improvements to the streams and conveyances within 
Westport. The purpose of second study is to assess the vulnerability and resiliency of Downtown relative to riverine and coastal 
flooding, including stormwater considerations. Mr. Leone is serving as senior technical consultant for the execution of the work. 

Project Manager, Flood Hazard Reevaluation, CENG Nine Mile Point Nuclear Station, Lycoming, New York and R.E. Ginna 
Nuclear Power Plant, Ontario, New York. Project Manager for external flood hazard reevaluation of two nuclear power plant sites: 
NMP is a category one site along Lake Ontario and the REG is a category 3 site along Lake Ontario. The external flood analyses 
included evaluation of Probable Maximum Hurricane (PMH), Probable Maximum Storm Surge (PMSS), Probable Maximum Seiche 
(PMS) and Probable Maximum Tsunami (PMT). 

FEMA No-Rise Certification, Confidential Power Utility, Upstate New York. In support of the installation of flood protection 
measures, GZA evaluated the floodway delineation of a stream in Upstate New York. The work was performed per FEMA guidance, 
including obtaining the effective model, duplicating it with up-to-date software, and evaluating the effective floodway. GZA’s 
hydraulic modeling approach identified several inconsistencies with the effective model and demonstrated to regulators that the 
proposed flood protection measures would not affect the regulatory floodway or flood elevations in the area. 

Dam Breach Feasibility and Hazard Reclassification of Ridgewood Reservoir / Highland Park, New York City, New York. 
Ridgewood Reservoir is a former water supply reservoir for the City, which was largely drained and taken offline many years ago. The 
dam impounding the reservoir remained and was classified by state regulators as High Hazard. GZA, on behalf of NYCDEP and NYC 
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Parks, provided a range of engineering services over several years to develop breach feasibility analyses. As a result of our work and 
negotiations between the City, State, and local stakeholders, the project transitioned to leaving the dam in-place but performing a 
hazard potential reclassification. GZA performed a 2-D dam breach analysis to support the analyses. The dam was reclassified to a 
Low hazard structure in 2017, eliminating the City’s need to perform more extensive studies and reducing the requirements for 
extensive dam repairs. 

Flood Vulnerability and Regulatory Assessment, Hoboken, New Jersey. Mr. Leone performed flood vulnerability assessments 
based on published data for an educational facility in Hoboken, New Jersey. The work also included state and local regulatory 
evaluation of proposed improvements to the building, and discussions with the Town and NJDEP. 

Project Manager, Massachusetts Department of Environmental Management, Jones River Watershed Study, Kingston, 
Massachusetts. Under the Massachusetts Watershed Initiative, the Department of Environmental Management, Office of Water 
Resources (DEM-OWR) hired GZA to undertake a water quantity and aquatic habitat analysis of the Jones River Watershed Study in 
Kingston, Massachusetts. Mr. Leone served as Project Manager and lead hydrologist for this project, which furthered scientific 
understanding of the inter-relationships of the key functional values of the watershed system related to water supply and aquatic 
habitat. Quantifying the hydrology of the basin involved significant technical challenges in the form of extensive cranberry farming 
practices which have altered natural drainage patterns and inter-basin transfers involving Silver Lake, which serves as the vast 
majority of the City of Brockton’s water supply. The results provided DEM-OWR, water users, and local officials and stakeholders 
hydrologic and biologic criteria for setting flow and habitat restoration goals. 

Project Hydrologist, Massachusetts Department of Environmental Management, Weir River Watershed Study, Hingham, 
Massachusetts. The Massachusetts Department of Environmental Management, Office of Water Resources (DEM-OWR) has hired 
GZA to perform a comprehensive inflow/outflow analysis for the Weir River watershed and its sub-basins. This project is being 
conducted under the Massachusetts Watershed Initiative to research essential background water use data for the Weir River 
watershed and to evaluate increased water needs for future planning. Mr. Leone is involved in examining a series of potential human 
and/or natural influences on the water supply system including, but not limited to, increased and decreased water demand and its 
effect on local surface water and groundwater hydrology. Results from these analyses will assist in assessing the potential risk due to 
biological stresses on aquatic species such as trout, herring, bass, and several macroinvertebrates. Mr. Leone was responsible for the 
presentation of the data and results of GZA’s study in ArcView (GIS) format. The end product of this project will be GZA’s 
development of a sound guidance/planning document to be used by the Boston Harbor Watershed Team and other stakeholders to 
sustain the area’s water resources into the 21st century. 

Project Hydrologist, Town of Cohasset, Bound Brook Aquatic Habitat Study, Cohasset, Massachusetts. The Town of Cohasset 
engaged GZA to evaluate the potential impacts that current and proposed water withdrawals have on stream flow and aquatic 
habitat in Bound Brook, downstream of Cohasset’s surface water supply sources: Aaron River Reservoir and Lily Pond. In addition to 
conducting stream flow measurements in the field, Mr. Leone was also responsible for developing a daily lake model able to 
accurately simulate long-term water surface fluctuations and outflows of the two-reservoir Town water supply system. GZA also 
developed site-specific stream flow targets to evaluate the effects of withdrawals upon aquatic habitat, from a hydrologic standpoint. 
The changes in available aquatic habitat were also investigated through comparisons of wetted perimeter in the brook for pre-, 
current, and proposed water withdrawal scenarios. 

Project Manager, Massachusetts Division of Capital Asset Management, Restoration and Stormwater Investigation of 
Canterbury Brook, Boston, Massachusetts. GZA was contracted by the Massachusetts Division of Capital Asset Management to 
investigate the existing flooding issues at the former Boston State Hospital Site. The project involved the use of a computer model, 
SWMM, to assess the existing conditions of the brook and its associated network of storm drains and sewer overflows, as well as the 
impact of proposed development upon the brook. Additionally, Mr. Leone completed a conceptual design for channel restoration at 
the brook, which included details for live fascines, log vanes, and boulder edging. The project is currently ongoing. 
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Education
B.S., 1998, Civil Engineering,  
Zhejiang University, China 
M. Phil., 2000, Civil Engineering 
Hong Kong University of Science and 
Technology 
M.S., 2003, Civil Engineering,  
Princeton University 

Registrations & Certificates 
Professional Engineer – 2008  
Massachusetts #47680 
Certified Floodplain Manager – 2015 
Certified MVP Provider MA - 2019

Areas of Specialization 
 Numerical Modeling 

 Hydrology and Hydraulics  

 Probability and Risk Analysis 

 Geotechnical/Structural 
Engineering  

 Finite Element Method 

Modeling Program Proficiency 
 SLOSH 

 ADCIRC 

 SWAN 

 WHAFIS 

 CEDAS 

 FLO2D 

 HEC-RAS 

 HEC-HMS 

 EPA SWMM 

 FEMA BCA Toolkit 

 FEMA HAZUS-MH 

 GeoStudio 

 PLAXIS 2D 
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Bin Wang, P.E.
Senior Consultant

Summary of Experience

Ms. Wang is a Senior Technical Specialist in the Water Resources Group. Her academic 

background includes geotechnical/structural/earthquake engineering, finite element 

method, probability theory and stochastic modeling.  Her responsibilities at GZA 

include geo-structure finite element modeling, statistical analyses, numerical modeling 

on coastal storm surge, wind-wave action, rainfall/runoff, groundwater seepage and 

surface water hydraulics.  Her experiences also include flood hazard evaluation due to 

climate change and sea level rise.  Completed official FEMA cost-benefit analysis (CBA) 

training in 2019.  

Relevant Project Experience 

Quonochontaug Pond Breachway Coastal Resiliency Improvement Project, 

Charlestown, RI. Performed data review on RI StormTools, habitat mapping, and 

numerical hydraulic modeling to assess current site conditions and future conditions 

associated with various sea level rise (SLR) scenarios.  Developed 60-percent 

conceptual design with green and gray measures to mitigate ongoing shoreline erosion 

and improve coastal resiliency at the site.   

Chippechaug Trail Shoreline Protection Feasibility Study, Mason’s Island, CT. 

Performed habitat mapping, site-specific metocean analysis, numerical hydrodynamic 

wave  modeling to assess current site conditions and  future conditions associated with 

various SLR projections.  Developed conceptual design alternatives with nature-based 

measures to mitigate shoreline erosion. 

Water Pollution Control Facility Flood Protection Enhancement Project, Town of 

Stratford, CT. Performed the conceptual design with perimeter flood protection 

measures for the site and prepared 30-percent concept drawing set for pre-permitting 

reviews.  The conceptual drawings will be reviewed by the state regulators to 

determine whether various aspects of the proposed project are in compliance with 

current federal/state/local regulations and permittable.  

Community Resilience / Hazard Mitigation Plan, Town of Stratford, CT.  Performed 

a comprehensive metocean analysis for the coastal town using the available 

oceanographic and meteorological data.  Reviewed FEMA flood hazard mapping 

information and performed site-specific circulation and wave coupled numerical 

modeling to assess the coastal flood hazard risks. Performed loss estimates using 

FEMA’s HAZUS-MH program to estimate the financial impact due to various flooding 

scenarios with sea level change projections for the Town.  Developed in-house 

property-specific loss estimate toolkit using the same FEMA and USACE fragility curves 

used by HAZUS.   

Long Wharf Flood Protection and Living Shoreline Conceptual Design, New Haven, 

Connecticut.  Performed annual loss calculations for different types of properties 

within the study area using FEMA’s depth-damage functions for both structural 

damage and content loss.  Drafted in AutoCAD proposed design concepts for resiliency 
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improvement, with consideration for future conditions including sea level rise and other climate change factors.  Design concepts 

included vegetated sand dune, saltwater marsh/wetland restoration and oyster reefs.  

Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan, Old Saybrook and Fenwick, Connecticut.  Performed a comprehensive metocean analysis for 

the coastal town using the available historical observed data.  Developed conceptual flood and beach/dune erosion mitigation 

conceptual plans.  

Reservation Terrace Sand Dune/Beach Nourishment Project, Plum Island, Massachusetts.  Performed a comprehensive 

statistical analysis on observed tide gage, wind and wave data.  Designed a stochastic simulation scheme for modeling beach 

erosion using the Monte Carlo Simulation technique and @Risk (Palisade) software.   Presented the simulated beach erosion 

estimates using annual probabilities, as a tool for risk-informed decision making and risk communication.  

Millstone Power Station Probabilistic Storm Surge Analysis and Combined Effects Flooding at Annual Exceedance Probability 

of 10-4 and 10-5.  Technical lead for development of storm surge stillwater elevation at AEP of 10-4 and 10-5 using logic tree method 

to evaluate epistemic uncertainty associated with the probabilistic flood hazard evaluation.  Performed statistical analysis on 

hurricane parameters (wind, heading, forward speed and radius of maximum winds) and used various methods to assess error and 

uncertainty parameters including stochastic modeling.      

Forensic Analysis and Review of Hurricane Metocean and Geological Conditions for a Failed Oil Rig, Confidential Site, Gulf of 

Mexico.  Performed independent metocean data analyses and derived Gulf of Mexico weather and wave statistics.  Reviewed 

seafloor geology and geomorphology at the site, original design documents and post-incident forensic studies. Summarized finding 

and conclusions in a technical report submitted to U.S. Coast Guard on the possible causes that contributed to the failure of the 

offshore platform and estimate of the likelihood of such incidents.  

Review of Feasibility Study Report - Boston Harbor-wide Barrier Systems Prepared by UMass Boston Sustainable Solutions 

Lab.  Performed detailed technical peer review of the feasibility report, which examined the harbor wide barrier options to  protect 

the City of Boston and surrounding coastal communities from frequent flooding due to climate change and projected sea level rise.  

Provided comments based on technical and financial feasibilities.  

Flood-Related Design Regulatory Research, A.J. Demarest School, Hoboken, New Jersey.  Performed a thorough regulatory 

research on Federal, State regulations and local municipal codes and developed a detailed report summarizing the findings 

pertinent to the proposed major renovation construction work at the 100-year old school building.  Provided technical support to 

the New Jersey School District Authority for bringing the building into compliance with the most current building codes.   

Post-Fukushima External Flood Evaluation, Confidential Nuclear Power Plants in Massachusetts, Connecticut, New York, 
New Jersey, Virginia, South Carolina and Louisiana.  Performed both riverine and coastal flood analysis, including statistical 
analysis on historical hurricane data and developed Probable Maximum Hurricane (PMH) parameters, performed Probable 
Maximum Storm Surge (PMSS). Performed extensive error/uncertainty analyses on flood hazard evaluation including stochastic 
modeling and extreme value analysis.   

External Flood Evaluation, PSEG Linden Generation Station, New Jersey and National Grid E.F. Barrett and Port Jefferson 

Power Plants, Long Island, New York.  Performed statistical extreme value analysis using observed NOAA tide gage data and 

SLOSH storm surge simulations for historical tropical storms and hurricanes.  Developed coastal flood stage frequency curves, 

using gage data, SLOSH results and Empirical Simulation Technique (EST) in CEDAS.  Probabilistically determined flood elevations 

used for flood inundation mapping at the plants.   
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Education 
B.S., Environmental Design, 1998, 
Urban and Regional Planning, 
University of Colorado- Boulder 
M.A., 2006, Urban and Environmental 
Policy and Planning, Tufts University  

Certifications  
Municipal Vulnerability Preparedness 
(MVP) Certified in Massachusetts 
Certified Floodplain Manager (CFM) 

Areas of Specialization 
• FEMA and HUD Disaster Response 

and Recovery Programs 

• FEMA, HUD, and NOAA Hazard 
Mitigation Programs 

• Resiliency and Climate Adaptation 

• Municipal Vulnerability 
Preparedness 

• Natural Hazard Mitigation Planning 

• Community Education and Outreach 

• Cost-Benefit Analysis 

• Environmental Permitting and 
Planning 

Publications and Presentations 

Bell, S.J. “Integrating Natural Hazard Risk 
Management into Site Selection, Due 
Diligence, Supply Chain Management and 
Existing Asset Management.” Industrial 
Asset Management Council (IAMC) Fall 
Forum (2018) 

Bell, S.J., Winslow, D.M., and Hudock, M. 
“Reducing Risk Associated with 
Development of Distressed Waterfronts.” 
Urban Land Institute (ULI) Northern New 
Jersey Suburban Marketplace (2016). 

Bell, S.J. and Boudreau, DJ. “Mapping the 
Vulnerability of Critical Infrastructure and 
Facilities.” Proceedings of the ASCE 
COPRI  National Conference, Boston 
(2015). 
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Samuel J. Bell, CFM 
Senior Resiliency Planner/Disaster Recovery Manager  
 

Summary of Experience 

Mr. Bell is a Senior Planner with GZA with 18 years of leadership and management 
experience covering natural hazard mitigation and resiliency planning, hazard mitigation 
assistance, environmental planning and permitting, community education and outreach, 
and disaster resiliency research. Sam is a member of the Natural Hazard Risk Management 
Senior Leadership Team assisting in the integration of these services across 30 GZA offices 
around the United States (U.S).  He has extensive experience providing technical assistance 
to Federal agencies, State agencies, U.S. Territories, Counties, and communities on 
disaster recovery and resiliency projects designed to protect critical facilities, public and 
private infrastructure, and residences. 

From 2007 to 2011 Mr. Bell served as a Hazard Mitigation Grant and Planning Team Lead 
for the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) providing disaster recovery 
support to states throughout the Northeast in response to the adverse impacts caused by 
various types of natural disasters. Mr. Bell worked with multiple State Emergency 
Management Agencies and Departments of Environmental Protection to identify 
strategies and natural hazard mitigation solutions to protect residences and critical facilities 
from incurring damages from future natural hazards.  

From 2011 to early 2014, Mr. Bell assisted FEMA with revising risk evaluation and 
program effectiveness tools that FEMA, States, local, tribal and US territories use to 
evaluate the effectiveness of all eligible flood mitigation projects including critical 
facilities and infrastructure. These tools included the FEMA Benefit-Cost Analysis (BCA) 
Tool Version 5.0 used to evaluate project cost-effectiveness, and a pioneering 
streamlined riverine flood loss avoidance study methodology used to evaluate the 
effectiveness of flood mitigation after completion.  To assist stakeholders with using 
FEMA’s BCA Tool, Mr. Bell provided trainings throughout the U.S. 

Relevant Project Experience 

Project Manager, Public Assistance COVID-19 Disaster Recovery, Providence, Rhode 
Island. (2020) GZA is assisting the City of Providence with disaster recovery services 
resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. Mr. Bell is one of the lead representatives 
authorized by Providence to act on the City’s behalf with the Rhode Island Emergency 
Management Agency (RIEMA) and FEMA in matters related to post disaster recovery. The 
services include: 1) managing the City’s FEMA Public Assistance Grants regarding COVID-
19; 2) recovering emergency protection administrative costs to the greatest extent under 
Section 324 of the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act; 3) 
coordinating with state and federal agencies on the City’s behalf in support of overall 
disaster recovery efforts; and 4) evaluating additional potential grant opportunities outside 
of FEMA PA for the City.   

Project Manager, Disaster Recovery Administrative Services, Cranston, Rhode Island. 
(2019-2020) GZA serves as the City of Cranston’s disaster recovery consultant.  Mr. Bell 
leads a team of disaster recovery experts to assist the City in managing state and federal 
disaster recovery grant management processes to ensure rapid recovery and to expedite 
post-disaster redevelopment for the City.  The services include but are not limited to 1) 
technical assistance for the FEMA Public Assistance; 2) Inspection/Damage Assessments; 
3) Financial management and Tracking; 4) FEMA 404 and 406 Hazard Mitigation Services; 
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5) Grant Close-out and Audit; 6) HUD Community Development Block Grant Disaster Recovery (CDBG-DR) Support Services.  

Project Manager, Public Assistance COVID-19 Disaster Recovery, Cumberland, Rhode Island. (2020) GZA is assisting the City of 
Cranston with disaster recovery services resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. Mr. Bell is one of the lead representatives authorized 
by Cranston to act on the City’s behalf with the RIEMA and FEMA in matters related to post disaster recovery. The services include: 
1) managing the City’s FEMA Public Assistance Grants regarding COVID-19; 2) recovering emergency protection administrative costs 
to the greatest extent under Section 324 of the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act; 3) coordinating with 
state and federal agencies on the City’s behalf in support of overall disaster recovery efforts; and 4) evaluating additional  potential 
grant opportunities outside of FEMA PA for the City.   

Project Manager, Western Gateway Climate Vulnerability Assessment and Adaptation Strategies, Glen Cove, New York. (2019-
2020) GZA is assisting the City of Glen in developing the Western Gateway Climate Vulnerability Assessment and Adaptation 
Strategies Plan.  The Plan will include: 1) a vulnerability assessment to the project area to climate change hazards including flooding 
from sea-level-rise and increased precipitation intensity and higher average temperatures; 2) public outreach to solicit input from 
stakeholders, residents and concerned citizens during plan development; and 3) development of adaptation strategies and measures 
to address climate change hazards and to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.  

Project Manager, Flood Vulnerability Assessment and Flood Mitigation Recommendations, City 0f Boston (City Hall), 
Massachusetts. (2018-2019) The City of Boston engaged GZA to work with the Facilities Department and property insurer to 1) 
conduct a flood vulnerability assessment; and 2) prepare flood mitigation recommendations for making City Hall more flood resilient.  
The purpose of the project is to reduce the risks that flooding at the site would result in property damage and/or business continuity 
loss.  GZA assessed the facility, two below grade parking garages, and identified critical entry points which might be subject to 
flooding.  GZA conducted a limited survey to verify elevations and compared them to flood elevations for the 1 percent and the 0.2 
percent annual exceedance probability floods.   

Prior Experience 

Mitigation Section Chief, FEMA Disaster Recovery Support, Boston, Massachusetts. (2008-2010) Mr. Bell led teams of hazard 
mitigation planners, grants managers and NFIP specialists at multiple Joint Field Offices (JFO).  Mr. Bell led these teams in providing 
federal disaster recovery assistance to States throughout the Northeast.  Mr. Bell assisted states and communities in developing 
mitigation strategies designed to reduce the impacts from future natural hazards that best meet the needs of each agency and 
community.  

Flood Mitigation and HMA Program Manager, FEMA Region 1 – Boston, Massachusetts. (2007-2010) Mr. Bell provided technical 
assistance (TA) in New England and directly to MEMA and DCR for making communities more disaster resilient through HMA and 
NFIP programs. He conducted these efforts through community education and outreach and State risk reduction priorities in 
collaboration with local governments and regional planning commissions. This TA included guidance on meeting application 
requirements including BCA, 

Senior Instructor, FEMA Benefit Cost Analysis (BCA) and Unified Hazard Mitigation Assistance (HMA) Class Instruction. (2011-
2014) Under numerous Hazard Mitigation Technical Assistance Program (HMTAP) task orders, Mr. Bell delivered trainings to FEMA 
staff, State, tribal and local mitigation officials on best practices for developing and managing HMA mitigation planning and project 
grants.   

National Technical Review (NTR) Team Member, FEMA’s Grants Implementation (GM) Branch – Washington, DC. (2008, 2010-
2011) Mr. Bell was a part of a panel of experts that analyzed over $750 million in hazard mitigation grants. applications for cost-
effectiveness and engineering feasibility.  These reviews included the evaluation of complex flood reduction projects focused on 
protecting critical facilities in coastal and riverine areas throughout the country.   

Team Leader, FEMA Hazard Mitigation Assistance (HMA) Grant Programs Requirements Verification and Validation. (2011-
2012) Under a task order assignment with FEMA, Mr. Bell had direct oversight of the team that verified and validated all FEMA Hazard 
Mitigation Assistance (HMA) Grant Programs Compliance Requirements. Mr. Bell assisted FEMA HQ in the facilitation of workshops 
with 9 FEMA regional offices that elicited feedback from 50(+) FEMA staff from throughout the United States.   
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Education 
Coastal Engineering Certificate, 2019,
Old Dominion University
M.S., 2015, Structural Engineering  
University of Connecticut
B.S., 2005, Structural/Civil Engineering, 
Lafayette College

Licenses & Registrations 
Professional Engineer – Connecticut, 
#0028433 
Professional Engineer – New York, 
#102757

Areas of Specialization 
 Coastal Engineering  

 Structural Engineering 

 Geotechnical Engineering 

 Construction Management 

 Above and Below Water Inspections 

 Waterfront Permitting 

 Marina Design 

Certifications/Training
 SSI Scuba Certification 

 Transportation Worker Identification 
Credential 

Affiliations/Memberships
 American Council of Engineering 

 American Institute of Steel 
Construction  

 Structure Engineering Institute 
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Matthew T. Taverna, P.E. 
Senior Project Manager 

Summary of Experience

Mr. Taverna has over 16 years of experience in coastal, geotechnical, and structural 
engineering applications for waterfront structures. Mr. Taverna maintains thorough 
knowledge in the design for municipal, industrial, commercial, and residential marine 
facilities.  His professional career includes performing structural analysis on various 
marine applications, regulatory permitting, cost estimating, surveying and site 
planning for various waterfront uses, preparation of construction contract documents, 
material specifications, and construction administration.   

As an Engineer, Mr. Taverna has inspected and performed structural analysis 
assessments on timber, concrete and steel elements. He has designed and prepared 
construction documents for timber, concrete and steel bulkheads including tie-back 
systems.  He has obtained federal, state, and local permits for shoreline stabilization, 
marina improvements, dredge operation and various municipal, commercial, and 
residential projects. Mr. Taverna has performed above and below water inspections 
and prepared condition assessment reports that included estimated construction costs 
for repairs. 

Relevant Project Experience  

Bulkhead Analysis, Gowanus Canal, New York. Reviewed design calculations and 
drawings for approx. 1,500-foot-long pipe pile bulkhead supporting approximately 40 
feet of organic material.  Design review included analyzing liquification of soil material 
during seismic event. Provided various options to reduce liquification of soil material, 
reviewed cost estimates for various methods of installation and provided options for 
reducing the depth of the sheet pile bulkhead material to reduce cost of the project.  

Private Marina Assessment, Port Jefferson, New York.  Prepared and managed 
design team for site assessment of an existing 900-foot-long timber pier, supported 
by 180 timber piles, a 900-foot-long timber wave screen, supported by 120 timber 
piles and 2,000-linear feet of floating docks supported by 100 timber piles. Review of 
structures included an ASCE Level II diving inspection. Prepared site condition 
assessment report which discussed existing site conditions, damage to structures, 
repairs to structures and estimated cost to repair structures. 

Shoreline Protection, Queens, New York. Permitted, designed, prepared 
construction drawings, specifications, and construction cost estimate for a 2,000-foot-
long stone revetment structure at Ralph Demarco Park in Queens, NY.  The structure 
was damaged during Hurricane Sandy and the structure was required to stay within 
same footprint.  The revetment structure design was modified to allow for the existing 
trees to remain undisturbed during construction. 

Residential Dwelling, Westport, Connecticut. Provided wave analysis for concrete 
piers and grades beams supporting a residential dwelling.  The results of the wave 
analysis were used to develop design environmental loads associated with extreme 
(current 100-year recurrence interval) water levels and waves.   

Public Harbor Walk, Salem, Massachusetts. Prepared site inspection team, prepared 
federal, state, and local permit applications, presented at local hearing, prepared 



Matthew T. Taverna, P.E. 
Senior Project Manager 

GZA.  Known for excellence.  Built on trust. Page  |  2

geotechnical and structural analysis calculations and monitored construction activities for a 1,000-foot-long concrete walkway 
supported by a steel sheetpile bulkhead and timber piles.  

Relevant Project Experience Prior to GZA  

Commercial Pier, New Haven, Connecticut. Prepared and managed design team for initial site inspection and geotechnical soil 
observation, prepared construction cost estimate, prepared federal and state permit applications, performed structural analysis on 
proposed structure, prepared construction drawings, prepared construction administrative proposal and monitored the 
construction phase for the ACEC nationally awarded Nathan Hale Pier Reconstruction Project. The structure is a 7,000 s.f., ADA 
compliant, fishing pier, supported by 133 timber piles and designed to resist the FEMA 100-year storm. The project was completed 
on time and within client’s budget. 

Municipal Marina Improvements, Fairfield, Connecticut.  Prepared and managed design team for initial site inspection of 
approx. 500,000 sf marina with approx. 3,500 linear feet of dock and 10 timber piers. Prepared condition assessment report with 
a multitude of various reconfigure options, that included drawings and estimated construction costs.  Presented options and 
costs at multiple public meeting. 

Municipal Boat Ramp, Greenwich, Connecticut.  Prepared and managed design team for initial site inspection of the existing 
deteriorated asphalt boat ramp, prepared federal, state, and local permit applications, prepared construction documents, which 
included construction drawings, specifications and bid documents, reviewed construction activities which included reviewing 
submittals, invoices, presenting at weekly construction meetings and monitored construction for a 4,000 s.f. concrete boat 
ramp. The project was completed within the allocated time to allow for opening prior to boating season. 

Residential Pier, Greenwich, Connecticut. Prepared design team for initial site inspection, managed, reviewed, and submitted 
federal, state, and local permit applications, liaison between owner, architect and design team, prepared construction contract, 
reviewed construction, made on–site modifications to design resulting from various soil conditions. Modifications kept project 
within budget and project finished within allocated time. 

Stone Seawall and Patio, Yacht Club, Greenwich, Connecticut. Managed design team for initial site inspection, prepared and 
reviewed federal and state permit application, prepared and reviewed design calculation for FEMA compliant 400’ long stone 
seawall protecting a new 2,500 s.f. concrete/paver patio. Liaison between yacht club representative, architect, design team and 
contractors. Mentored junior engineers in construction administrative services such as concrete testing, payment applications 
and submittal review. 



GZA GEOENVIRONMENTAL 
TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements 

February 25, 2022 and February 26, 2021 



NOTIFICATION TO THIRD PARTY USERS OF THIS REPORT 

This report was prepared subject to the terms and conditions set forth in an engagement letter.  By 
relying upon this report, all users shall be deemed to agree to the terms and conditions of that 
engagement letter.  Users intending to rely upon this report should contact the issuer to obtain a copy 
of its applicable terms and conditions.  This report is intended for the exclusive use of the clients of the 
issuer and others to whom the issuer has expressly granted consent. 



GZA GEOENVIRONMENTAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT............................................................................................................................. 1 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS .............................................................................................................................. 3 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME ............................................................................................................ 5 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY ......................................................................... 6 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS .................................................................................................. 7 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ....................................................................................... 9 







Page |  2  

Appendix A.  Company Information

Request for Proposal  
Engineering Services 

Benefit Cost Analysis for Climate Resiliency 
Town of Fairfield 

RFP # 2022-200

Corporate Experience 

Founded in 1964 as Goldberg-Zoino & Associates, Inc., a soils and foundations specialty consultant, GZA GeoEnvironmental, Inc. 
(GZA) has grown into a multidisciplinary consulting firm offering services in the fields of marine and waterfront, structural, 
geotechnical, civil and environmental engineering, hazardous waste assessment and remediation, water and wastewater 
engineering, and construction related services.  GZA employs approximately 680 engineers, scientists, and technical support staff in 
30 offices located throughout New England, the Great Lakes, and Mid-Atlantic states. 

Although GZA maintains a strong service base and expertise in our original specialty of geotechnical engineering, our engineering 
capacity has broadened over the years to include general civil engineering services with an emphasis in waterfront/marine 
engineering, structural engineering, environmental, hydraulics/hydrology, site civil applications, and natural hazard management 
and climate adaptation.  GZA has over 35 qualified engineers with relevant experience in waterfront/marine engineering.   

Through integration of our waterfront/marine, structural, geotechnical, environmental, and civil engineering expertise, GZA has 
historically been able to offer both a broad range of technical expertise and cost-effective and technically appropriate solutions to 
problems.  We have taken the additional step to tailor our integrated services around the client-specific needs of various client groups 
such as those within the public sector (government agencies), private industry, and contractors.  This approach allows us to provide 
the technical expertise, innovation, sensitivity to client needs, and responsiveness to the unique engineering, permitting and 
construction issues associated with each client group. 

Since 1982, GZA has been involved in inspections, evaluations, design for repairs and new facilities, permitting, and construction of 
over 1,800 marine/waterfront projects throughout the United States.  Our projects have ranged from small redevelopment projects 
to very large marine and waterfront facilities (e.g., Bath Iron Works).  

Proactive communication is our company commitment.  We plan and perform our work better through taking complete responsibility 
for understanding your goals, needs, and project constraints.  We develop a project-specific communications plan to meet your need 
for face-to-face, phone, email and written communications about your project’s progress.  You are kept up to date on work status, 
often before you think to ask.  You are advised and consulted on your most important project and risk options before work begins.  
We take a forward thinking “ownership” perspective on your project’s critical success factors in partnering with you as a trusted 
advisor on your team.  

With a staff of interrelated professionals dedicated to providing high-level expertise on complex projects above, below and at ground-
level, GZA’s experts provide seamless integration across practice areas, client type, and location.  As an employee-owned, private 
company, GZA’s staff is motivated to propel the firm forward, seeking integrated, complex, and interesting projects that underscore 
a commitment to client satisfaction, environmental stewardship and best practices in science, engineering and construction.  
Because GZA experts are trained across disciplines, clients benefit from the knowledge and experience of our staff, and resources are 
in-house and available for every project.  With the ability to manage unpredictability, remain nimble, and mobilize quickly, GZA 
responds to client inquiries with urgency, sensitivity, knowledge, and value, while remaining mindful of project costs and schedule.  

Excelling as a multi-disciplinary, multi-office firm of proactive, bright, and dedicated people, we provide value to our clients and our 
profession.   

As an example of the types of projects that GZA has completed in the recent past that are relevant to scope of work presented within 
the RFP, we have included several project descriptions in Appendix D for your information and review.  GZA has recently completed 
cost estimate tasks for a number of municipal living shoreline resiliency project in Stratford, New Haven, and Mystic, Connecticut.  

Subcontracting/Assignments 

At this time, GZA is proposing to complete all the marine, structural and civil engineering work identified in the RFP. As the project 
progresses, should the need for additional information (land surveying, borings, etc.) arise, GZA will contract for these services with 
the appropriate firms and with the written consent of the Town of Fairfield.    
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Appendix B.  Estimating/Cost Management

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

The Scope of Services presented herein is in response to the Request for Proposal (RFP) issued on May 25, 2022 by the 
Town of Fairfield (RFP #2022-200).  The RFP calls for a Benefit Cost Analysis (BCA) for Climate Resiliency for three selected 
critical coastal protection projects.

Background 

Based on the RFP document (#2022-200), GZA understands that the Town of Fairfield developed a town wide Flood and 
Erosion Master Plan in 2015, which later evolved into the 2019 MetroCOG Hazard Mitigation Plan. The portion of the Town 
of Fairfield south of the Interstate 95 (I-95) corridor was originally marshy land that has been largely filled in and developed 
over time. The Town owns approximately a 5-mile-long coastline (excluding estuarine waterfront along Ash Creek). Due 
to its coastal location directly facing the Long Island Sound, the Town is vulnerable to coastal flooding due to storm surge 
induced by intense tropical and extratropical storms.   
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Request for Proposal  
Engineering Services 

Benefit Cost Analysis for Climate Resiliency 
Town of Fairfield 

RFP # 2022-200

Annual Exceedance Probability (AEP) flood.  The USACE’s plan intends to protect most of the Town’s infrastructure and 
residences from such flooding and has a projected cost of $546 million.  While it had a benefit-cost ratio (BCR) of 1.7, it 
does not meet the benefit cost thresholds to be approved for federal funding. The estimated cost was considered too high 
for the Town to proceed on its own.  The Town has assessed the USACE plan and identified “critical” sections that, if 
implemented, have the potential to mitigate the majority of the damages and impact from major storm events. The Town 
is hoping to investigate lower cost alternatives to produce more competitive BCRs and then would be able to propose to 
move those projects forward.  

GZA understands that the Town is interested in applying for individual grants for each of these sections as grant funding 
becomes available.  The Town plans to update the USACE costs (USACE had provided “Project Costs” in 2019 dollars) and 
to perform a BCA for these critical sections individually, under the scope of this proposal. The request for this CIRCA grant 
would cover updated costs and a BCA for two to three of the sections.  

Based on the RFP document, we understand that the top three priorities are: 

1) First priority – update the USACE costs to provide for 2 “T- wall” sections of the plan from Jennings Beach, past 
the marina section and to create a 7 ft “T-wall” section that will tie into Ash Creek Open Space. More cost-effective 
mitigation measures such as earthen berms/dikes and tidegate(s) instead of pump stations will need to 
considered.   

2) Second Priority – update the USACE costs for the Salt Meadow Road “T–wall” run. Cost saving and effective 
alternatives would also be investigated. The BCA for this section will be able to support the Town to move towards 
a grant-ready project for more detailed design and eventual construction.  

3) Third Priority – prepare preliminary BCA for a combined self-regulating tidegates, culvert and sewer siphon project 
(based on the Town’s completed final design plans).   

GZA understands that developing a BCA for each of the individual projects (or sections) could allow the Town to better 
determine if the project meets various grant criteria such as environmental benefits.   

GZA assumes that the Town will share the USACE drawings and detailed cost breakdowns (including contingencies) from 
the 2019 study for each type of the T-walls in the plan. The Town of Fairfield will also provide its assessor database for the 
BCA, where applicable. 
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GZA has assembled a multidisciplin
that personnel from these offices w
is prepared to offer the following se

Task 1 – Kickoff Meeting and Site R

GZA will attend a kickoff meeting vi
and discuss existing issues.  We ass
documents, data, and results to GZ

GZA will also perform a site reconn
be completed in a single day.  Pho
existing structures/features relevan

Task 2 – Review and Updated USAC

GZA will perform a detailed review 
elevations, and sea level rise scena
values based on more updated data
the costs will be estimated assumin

Pr  
oject Location Map (source: RFP #2022-200)
Request for Proposal  
Engineering Services 

Benefit Cost Analysis for Climate Resiliency 
Town of Fairfield 

RFP # 2022-200

ary team from our Norwood (headquarters) and Trumbull offices.  We firmly believe 
ill provide the Town of Fairfield with the expertise that is required for this Project.  GZA 
rvices that are described below: 

econnaissance  

rtually (e.g., via Zoom or Teams) or onsite with the Town to confirm project objectives 
ume that the Town will provide existing information including existing study reports, 
A for review and use.   

aissance visit to the three identified sites.  We assume the visit to the three sites will 
tographs will be taken to document GZA’s visual observations.  Basic dimensions of 
t to this project will be recorded/documented.   

E Cost Estimates 

of existing information, including project goals, design concepts, design flood water 
rios.  We will use the USACE cost estimates from 2019 and update the estimated 
 sources from the Town and recent GZA project experiences.  GZA understands that 
g construction in 2025.  
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Benef

GZA will meet with the Town to review GZA’s preliminary finding/results at the end of this task.  

Task 3 – Benefit-Cost Analysis 

Upon reviewing the preliminary cost estimates from Task 2, GZA will proceed to the actual BCA task.  The BCA will 
include various benefits including avoided/prevented losses (to structures/property/contents, etc.) and additional 
benefits (such as social and environmental benefits).  We understand that additional alternatives will need to be 
considered for more cost-effective flood protection and mitigation measures besides those analyzed by the USACE in 
2019.  

In general, GZA proposes to follow the standard FEMA BCA framework, in conjunction with USACE cost-effectiveness 
analysis manuals.  For this project, GZA proposes to incorporate a recent memorandum titled “Framework for Benefit 
Cost Analysis (BCA) Approach” prepared under contract to CIRCA for Resilient Connecticut Phase II Consulting Services 
in August 2021 authored by Dewberry.  This memorandum provides benefits that are often not easily quantifiable in 
the FEMA flood-hazard mitigation projects, such as aesthetic value provided by green space, recreation/tourism values, 
as well as climate regulation benefits provided by various habitat types.   

The overall level of detail for this BCA is assumed to be consistent with the 2019 USACE study.  

Task 3a: Loss Quantification 

GZA will use the applicable hazards to assess avoided 
losses with the new resilience improvement design.  
Types of loss will likely include: direct physical 
damages to buildings/structures and building 
contents; direct physical damages to park ground and 
facilities; business interruption; interruption to public 
facility/recreational use; and interruption to public 
transportation.  

Avoided losses will be calculated based on reductions in losses due to
waterfront. GZA proposes to use data and/or results from the FEMA H
GZA in-house BCA toolkit (which uses the same input fragility curves 
applicable BCA guidance developed by FEMA and USACE. Limited sens
effects of certain input parameters and/or assumptions. 

Task 3b: Qualitative or Semi-Quantitative Benefit Estimation 

GZA will qualitatively assess additional value/benefit generated b
environmental, aesthetic, and social benefits.  Additional worksheets w
environmental benefits based on the CIRCA Resilient Connecticut memo
from existing information available from FEMA, USACE, and the Town o

Mi  
crosoft Excel Plug-in – FEMA BCA Toolkit
Request for Proposal  
Engineering Services 

it Cost Analysis for Climate Resiliency 
Town of Fairfield 

RFP # 2022-200

 proposed improvements such as the elevated 
AZUS-MH software, FEMA BCA Toolkit, and/or 

developed by FEMA and USACE in HAZUS) and 
itivity analysis will be incorporated to evaluate 

y the new proposed improvements such as 
ill be developed to estimate/quantify social and 
randum.  Benefits of the project will be derived 
f Fairfield.   
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Request for Proposal  
Engineering Services 

Benefit Cost Analysis for Climate Resiliency 
Town of Fairfield 

RFP # 2022-200

Task 3c: Estimate Benefit Cost Ratios 

Overall benefit-cost ratios (BCR) will be calculated and categorized for the proposed design scenarios.  GZA assumes 
that two different discount rates will be used for this analysis (e.g., three percent, seven percent), which will be 
confirmed by or provided by the Town to GZA as input. The BCR calculation will be performed using 2025 values as 
requested by the RFP. 

Task 4 – BCA Summary Report 

GZA will summarize our BCA analysis results in a technical report. The report will document GZA’s BCA methodology, 
input information, assumptions, data sources, alternative analysis, and BCA results.  Calculation sheets and data files 
(including additional plans or sketches) will be appended to the report.  

Task 5 – Meetings 

We have included up to two (2), 1-hour duration, in-person or virtual project meetings in the budget to be attended by 
up to two GZA representatives.  No public outreach meetings are included under the current scope.  

PROGRAM PRICING 

This lump sum fixed-price fee is based on the anticipated scope of work outlined above, which represents our judgment 
as to the level of effort required, summarized in the table below.   

TASK BUDGET

Task 1 – Kickoff Meeting and Site Reconnaissance $2,900 

Task 2 – Review and Update USACE Estimates $5,200 

Task 3 – Benefit-Cost Analysis $17,700 

Task 4 – Technical Report $2,800 

Task 5 – Meetings $1,300 

TOTAL $29,900 

You will be notified of any conditions requiring an increase in budget if such conditions become evident. Additional work 
beyond the above-described scope will be completed only with written and approved change orders and will billed on 
either a lump sum or a time and expense basis in accordance with the Schedule of Fees that will be submitted to the 
Town of Fairfield at a future date. 
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Estimated Tentative Schedule 



Request for Proposal  
Engineering Services 

Benefit Cost Analysis for Climate Resiliency 
Town of Fairfield 

RFP # 2022-200

Please note that the schedule was estimated based on the following assumptions / information:  

 The RFP was realized on May 25, 2022 and due June 9, 2022.  There appears to be a delay by approximately 2 months in 

the RFP process.  

 According to the workplan contained in the RFP document (RFP #2022-200, page 5), the NTP was scheduled to be 

provided on May 1, 2022.  GZA assumed an early NTP of July 1, 2022 for the estimated schedule in Appendix C, if awarded 

with this project.   

 GZA assumed that the project timeline will remain approximately consistent with the original workplan.  As a result, the 

final project deliverable was estimated to be around December 23, 2022.  

GZA will work with the Town for interim project meetings / deliverables when needed. 



Jul-22 Aug-22 Sep-22 Oct-22 Nov-22 Dec-22 Jan-23

Kick Off and Site Recon - 07/02/22 - 07/15/22

Review Existing Information - 07/16/22 - 07/22/22

Update USACE 2019 Estimates - 07/23/22 - 08/19/22

Status Update Meeting - 08/20/22 - 08/26/22

Loss Estimates - 08/27/22 - 09/23/22

Benefit Estimates - 09/24/22 - 10/21/22

Benefit Cost Ratios - 10/22/22 - 11/04/22

Technical Report - 11/05/22 - 11/25/22

Town Review - 11/26/22 - 12/09/22

Comment Resolution - 12/10/22 - 12/16/22

Final Deliverable - 12/17/22 - 12/23/22

Benefit Cost Analysis for Climate Resiliency, Fairfield, CT
Estimated Tentative Schedule

Task 1 

Task 2

Task 3 

Task 4

June 8, 2022
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Request for Proposal  
Engineering Services 

Benefit Cost Analysis for Climate Resiliency 
Town of Fairfield 

RFP # 2022-200

Related Experience 

The Town of Fairfield is seeking a consulting firm to provide professional services for a Benefit-Cost Analysis (BCA) for 
Climate Resiliency.  GZA can provide the Town with the required engineering services, and we firmly believe that our 
experience with coastal resilience projects and FEMA BCA framework will produce valuable information to help the 
Town identify applicable grant opportunities.  We believe the BCA results will be able to support the Town with grant 
applications in the future.  GZA was founded on an adherence to high standards of professional and ethical conduct.  
We have achieved an enviable reputation among our clients, peers, and public agencies because of the quality of our 
work and our unbending honesty and integrity.  

A list of recent GZA coastal resilience projects is identified below with references. More detailed description of each 
project is attached.  

Project and Location Reference Phone Email

Long Wharf Flood Protection and Living 
Shoreline Design 

New Haven, CT 

Dawn 
Henning, P.E. 

203.946.8101 DHenning@newhavenct.org

Hepburn Dune Living Shoreline

Old Saybrook, CT 

Cori M. Rose 
US Army Corps 
of Engineers 

978.318.8306 Cori.M.Rose@usace.army.mil

Stratford Community Coastal Resilience

Stratford, CT 

John Casey, 
P.E. 

203.385.4013 jcasey@townofstratford.com

Old Saybrook Community Coastal Resilience

Old Saybrook, CT 

Christina Costa 860.395.3131 chris.costsa@oldsaybrookCT.gov

Mason’s Island Shoreline Restoration

Mystic, CT 

Kristin Foster n/a kdnfoster24@gmail.com

Currently, GZA does not have any active projects with the Town of Fairfield.  
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Long Wharf Flood Protection Study 
New Haven, CT 

 

A view of the northern shoreline of the District, photographed from Long Wharf Pier 
 

GZA implemented a flood protection study in the Long Wharf District of New Haven. 
The district consists of two distinct areas in their character and use: the waterfront 
shoreline and the industrial district. The goal of the study was to identify strategies 
relevant to the character of the neighborhoods and areas to reduce coastal flooding 
in the district. This study was also used as a road map for the City in creating social, 
economic, and ecological resilience in relation to future sea level rise impacts, storm 
surge, and erosion. GZA’s project team included Utile, Biohabitats, and Cambridge 
Systematics. 

The Project scope included: 

• Review of Existing Programs, Plans and Capabilities 

• Regional Framework for Coastal Resilience 

• Data Collection (Assets/Vulnerabilities Inventory and Mapping) 

• Vulnerability and Risk Assessment 

• Review of Adaptation Options 

• Selection of Sandy‐Impacted Neighborhoods for Neighborhood Plans 

• Preparation of Coastal Resilience Plan Document 

• Implementation Plan and Process 

• Stakeholder and Public Outreach 

• Cost/Benefit Analysis 

• Feasibility Analysis of Flood Mitigation Strategies 

• Conceptual Designs 

 

Project Highlights 

• Vulnerability and Risk Assessment 

• Adaptation Options Analysis 

• Stakeholder Identification and 
Engagement 

• Public Information Meetings 

• Sandy‐Impacted Neighborhoods 

• Living Shoreline Plan 

• Public Infrastructure Plan 

• Implementation Plan and Process 

• Conceptual Designs 

Long Wharf Nature Preserve – City of New Haven 
2016
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Hepburn Dune Living Shoreline Project
Borough of Fenwick, Old Saybrook, CT

A

 GeoEnvironmental, Inc. Page  |  1

allenges: 

ach and dune erosion have been an on-going issue along the approximately 450 
ear foot barrier spit that makes up the Hepburn Dune section of the Old Saybrook 
oreline.  The Borough of Fenwick has expended significant effort and cost to stabilize 
e shoreline during the last 10 to 15 years; however, erosion continues and there is 
ncern that future storm events may cause a breach of the barrier spit.  A breach 

ould have negative consequences for both improved property in the area and the 
cently restored tidal marsh and creek located upland of the barrier spit.     

lutions: 

A proposed use of a Living Shoreline approach to mitigate on-going erosion and 
duce the potential for a breach of the barrier spit.  Several alternatives were 
veloped and evaluated relative to system performance, likelihood of permit 
ceptance and cost. GZA evaluated the performance of the Living Shoreline under 
evailing wind, tide and wave conditions (to establish requirements for new wetlands 
rvivability) and under storm conditions (storm surge and waves) representing 
fferent recurrence intervals.  The recommended alternative utilizes: 1) a nearshore 
etland sill to attenuate prevailing wave heights; 2) new fill and tidal wetlands between 
e sill and the beach; 3) reshaping of cobble beach; and 4) dune restoration with a 
arrystone-reinforced, planted dune (above the Coastal Jurisdiction Line).        

nefits: 

Living Shoreline will provide the benefit of a nature-based approach to shoreline 
abilization, consistent with the existing barrier spit and marsh setting and with 
inimal habitat impact.  This approach will also address the erosive effects of existing, 
storical coastal structures located near the site.  GZA assisted the Borough with an 
plication for a CIRCA grant which was awarded. The project will be used as a 
monstration project with long term performance monitoring.  GZA will be working 

ith CIRCA and the University of Connecticut to establish empirical Living Shoreline 
rformance criteria applicable to Long Island Sound.  The project was also recently 
esented by CIRCA as part of a Living Shoreline permit workshop. 

Project Highlights 

 CIRCA Grant Application and 
Award 

 Living Shoreline proposed for 
stabilization of barrier spit  

 State demonstration project 

 Historical shoreline change 
assessment 

 Metocean data analysis 

 Numerical wave modeling 

 Numerical cross-shore sediment 
transport modeling 

 Living Shoreline Design and 
Permitting 

 view of the existing Hepburn dune, barrier spit beach and tidal marsh, Fenwick, CT.  The dune is almost completely eroded, and the remaining beach is narrow.
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GZA developed a Community Coastal Resilience Plan for the Town of Stratford. The 
Plan provides a road map for creating social, economic, and ecological resilience in 
relation to future sea level rise impacts, including anticipated increases in the 
frequency and severity of storm surge, coastal flooding, and erosion. GZA developed 
the plan in coordination with the South Central Regional Council of Governments 
(SCRCOG) and the Greater Bridgeport Regional Council (GBRC) Regional Framework 
for Resiliency to limit redundancies, but more importantly to make the entire region 
more resilient by working with neighboring and nearby communities. GZA’s project 
team included The Cecil Group (now Harriman) and Jamie Caplan Consulting, LLC. 

Vulnerability and Risk Assessment 

GZA performed a HAZUS-MH Level 2/3 Hazard Vulnerability Risk to identify asset 
impacts associated with multiple time horizons, sea level rise scenarios and flood risk 
levels (e.g., 100-year and 500-year recurrence interval floods). GZA conducted the 
assessment using site-specific flood hazard data developed by GZA’s computer storm 
surge and wave models. In addition to critical infrastructure, natural resources and 
other key assets, the vulnerability assessment focused on low- and moderate-income 
neighborhoods to evaluate the impacts to these neighborhoods associated with 
climate change and to ensure that these neighborhoods are represented in Town 
planning. We used the results of the hazard assessment to: 1) identify key resiliency 
projects; 2) understand future costs and needs; and 3) support implementation of 
coastal resiliency measures. 

Project Identification and Concept Design  

GZA, working with the Town, identified and conceptualized approximately 25 
projects that, when implemented, provide near 100% Town flood protection. The 
projects were evaluated and prioritized based on their feasibility, benefit-cost ratios, 
fundability, and permit-ability.  Several of these projects are underway and GZA 
continues to work with the Town on project funding and implementation.    

 

Community Coastal Resilience Plan, Engineering 
and Design, Permitting and Grant Support 
Stratford, CT 

 

Project Highlights  

• Vulnerability and risk assessment 

• Adaptation options analysis 

• Public information meetings and 
charrettes 

• Sandy-impacted neighborhoods 

• Public infrastructure plan 

• Implementation plan and process 

• Wastewater resilience conceptual 
design 

• Successful grant application 
support for flood improvements at 
the Wastewater Pollution Control 
Facility (WPCF) 

• 30% engineering and design for 
flood improvements at the WPCF 

• Preliminary permitting for flood 
improvements at the WPCF 

  

Short Beach 

Overview of coastal resilience projects along the Housatonic and inland for the Town of Stratford 

Wastewater Treatment Facility  
Town of Stratford 2014 
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Project Engineering and Design & Permitting   

The plan identified approximately 25 physical projects Several of the planned projects have advanced to funding and design.  GZA 
performed a supplemental loss analysis for a proposed bridge project and established the new bridge deck elevations, which turned the 
bridge (and associated tide gate and pump station) into a flood control structure. This also resulted in additional construction funding. 
GZA assisted the Town with negotiated development agreements for a large coastal parcel (which, when redeveloped will serve as part of 
the Town's flood mitigation system). GZA recently completed 30% design of the Water Pollution Control Facility flood control 
enhancements.  GZA provided construction cost estimates for funding application and developed conceptual plans for pre-permitting 
reviews. 

Stratford Water Pollution Control Facility (WPCF) Flood Protection Enhancement Project 

GZA is currently helping the WPCF prepare preliminary permitting materials for review by the Connecticut Department of Energy and 
Environmental Protection (DEEP) to determine whether the proposed project can be successfully permitted prior to receiving FEMA grant 
funding.  The required permitting elements include a wetland delineation survey, 30% design plan set, engineering documentation, Flood 
Management Certificate, Flood Contingency Plan and Coastal Consistency Review. GZA wetland scientists performed a wetland 
delineation survey to map the existing wetland types and boundaries, to minimize and control potential impact due to the proposed 
construction activities, per permitting requirements. GZA is preparing a 30% design plan including flood control improvements and 
stormwater management.  The 30% design includes establishing the design flood control elevation in accordance with TR-16 and state 
regulations and statutes.   

Public Outreach 
Public outreach was conducted in close collaboration with the efforts of the Project Team, Town staff, and the public.  Outreach included 
a series of three public information meetings and charrettes, as well as updates to Town’s website and the StormSmart™ Coasts network. 
From these experiences we learned that it is vital the public outreach be community driven and led by community members from the start 
based on a well developed and tested community resilience outreach framework.  This was particularly the case for Stratford, which 
identified numerous at-risk areas with an equal number of potential resilience and protection projects to pursue in the future.  The outreach 
process was critical in obtaining public buy-in and assisted in the prioritization of projects for conceptual design. 

 
 

Community Coastal Resilience Plan, Engineering 
and Design, Permitting and Grant Support 
Stratford, CT 

 

Below:  Proposed Dike and Levee Profile on Beacon Point Road at the WPCF in Stratford 



GZA is in the process of conducting a Community Coastal Resilience Study and 
Infrastructure Evaluation for the Town of Old Saybrook, CT.  GZA’s overall approach is 
to: 1) use “state-of-the-science” methodologies, including numerical models, for 
characterizing flood hazards and sea level rise; 2) calibrate of our hazard analyses to the 
results of the US Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) North Atlantic Coast Comprehensive 
Study (used for federal projects); 3) utilize HAZUS-MH for estimating losses; 4) present 
resiliency recommendations ranging from physical mitigation projects to changes to Old 
Saybrook’s plans, policies and regulations; 5) identify physical flood mitigation projects 
including both structures and natural and nature-based features; and 6) use ArcGIS for all 
information management, including our web-based GIS GZA GeoTool©.

Public Outreach 
GZA’s Community Resiliency outreach for this project centers principally on the 
integration and use of the Community Resilience Building (CRB) Workshop Process.  The 
CRB Workshop generates a great deal of information from the community on hazards, 
vulnerability, strengths, and priority actions to improve resilience in Old Saybrook. Our 
first workshop at the beginning of the process helped to build greater awareness and 
support for the process and the ultimate development of the Coastal Resilience Plan for 
Old Saybrook.   

GZA evaluated public participation results, population density and characteristics, critical 
facilities, and the results of the vulnerability and risk assessment for risk profiles to inform 
neighborhood selection based on the data points available from the Coastal Resilience 
Study Document. This evaluation will result in the selection of up to two neighborhoods 
for recovery and adaptation conceptual design. 

GZA is using interactive exercises and dialogue during Neighborhood Outreach to assess 
community goals regarding necessary tradeoffs, including flood-proofing versus 
relocation. GZA’s team documents input for evaluation of preliminary and final 
conceptual designs. After the meetings, GZA circulates meeting results memo(s) to the 
Town and other stakeholders to solicit additional consideration. 

Town of Old Saybrook 
Community Coastal Resilience Study & 
Infrastructure Evaluation  
Stratford, CT

Project Highlights 

 Flood Vulnerability and Risk 
Assessment 

 Inundation Mapping Using 
Innovative Geospatial Management 
Tools 

 Resiliency Adaptation Options 
Analysis 

 Public Involvement Process 
Meetings and Charrettes 

 Implementation Plan and Process 

 Sandy-Impacted Neighborhoods 
Land Use and Development 
Analysis 

 Neighborhood Conceptual Designs 

 Living Shoreline Plan 

 Physical and Infrastructure 
Feasibility Study

Saybrook Breakwater Lighthouse located in Old Saybrook, Connecticut
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Mason’s Island Fire District- Shoreline Protection Feasibility Study 
Stonington, CT 
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nerable to coastal flooding and land erosion, jeopardizing use of the 
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 will provide a roadmap for the next project steps, including 
stakeholder outreach and final design. GZA's study will also 
al and state grant applications. GZA is experienced in Living 
posed application of a Living Shoreline for this project site 

 essential habitats, and mitigate shoreline erosion.  

Project Highlights 
 Characterization of flood and erosion risks 

 Mitigation alternatives and approach 

 Conceptual design 

 Living shoreline and habitat survey 

 Site and bathymetric survey  

 Metocean data analysis and hydrodynamic 
modeling 

 Regulatory and permit audit 

 Cost estimating 

 Proactive grant funding assistance 
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Memorandum 

To: Board of Selectmen 

From: Mark Barnhart, Director of Community & Economic Development 

Date: August 22, 2022 

Re: Proposed Development Agreement for 244 Greenfield Street 

I am requesting your favorable consideration to authorize the Town to enter 
into a Development Agreement with Habitat for Humanity of Coastal Fairfield 
County, Inc., to create four units of affordable home ownership housing at 
244 Greenfield Street.   
 
You will recall that the Town acquired this parcel late last year with monies 
from the Town’s Housing Trust Fund.  The Town subsequently requested 
qualification statements and proposals from interested development partners 
(RFQ #2022-141), and selected Habitat for Humanity at the conclusion of 
that process.   
 
The purpose of the attached Agreement is to establish an overall framework 
for the redevelopment of the property, as well as to set forth the terms, 
obligations, and a schedule by which the parties intend to accomplish this 
objective. Under the terms of the Agreement, Habitat is responsible for 
overseeing all aspects of the development process, including the design, 
financing, permitting, construction, and sale of the units.  The Town’s role is 
to provide the land--for which it intends to retain title but enter into a long-
term ground lease—as well as to assist Habitat in this endeavor.  The 
ground lease would require separate approvals from the Board of 
Selectmen, Representative Town Meeting as well as a mandatory referral to 
the Town Plan & Zoning Commission pursuant to CGS 8-24. 
 
I would welcome the opportunity to discuss this proposal and to respond to any 
questions the Board may have.  Thank you again for your consideration. 
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DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
 

FOR 
 

REDEVELOPMENT OF 244 GREENFIELD STREET FAIRFIELD, CONNECTICUT 
 

 
HABITAT FOR HUMANITY OF COASTAL FAIRFIELD COUNTY, INC., a 

Connecticut nonstock corporation (“Development Partner”), and the TOWN OF FAIRFIELD, a 
municipal corporation (the “Town”) hereby enter into this Development Agreement (the 
“Agreement”) dated as of this ___ day of ______, 2022 (the “Effective Date”) to memorialize 
certain business terms, conditions and agreements regarding the redevelopment of an approximately 
.4-acre affordable housing development located at 244 Greenfield Street, Fairfield, Connecticut (the 
“Property”).  The Property is more fully described in Schedule 1 attached hereto.  The Property 
presently consists of a 2-bedroom/1-bath single family home, with a small shed outbuilding (the 
“Current Improvements”), which is currently unoccupied. The Development Partner and the 
Town are sometimes collectively referred to herein as the “Parties” or as a “Party.”   

 
1. Nature of Agreement.   
 
This Agreement sets forth the principal terms that have been agreed to by the Parties 

concerning the redevelopment of the Property (the “Redevelopment”) in accordance with the 
Town’s Request for Qualifications (RFQ) #2022-141 for a development partner for the 
redevelopment of the Property and the Development Partner’s response thereto (collectively the 
“RFQ”).   

 
This Agreement is intended to provide an overall framework for a cooperative, public-

private, highly coordinated approach to the Redevelopment.  The Parties agree to work with each 
other in good faith to execute any subsequent amendments that may be needed to complete the 
Redevelopment.  Without limitation, the Development Partner will assist the Town, upon its request, 
regarding any necessary outreach or community support (the “Community Engagement and 
Planning Process”). The Town will work with the Development Partner to secure all required 
permits and approvals and to support the Development Partner’s efforts to obtain financing for the 
Redevelopment.  The Town shall retain fee ownership in the Property but will enter into a long-term 
ground lease on terms acceptable to the Parties to ensure affordability.   
   

2. Redevelopment Feasibility and Structure/Property Description.   
 
(a) Feasibility/Town Expectation.  The Parties acknowledge that the Town’s expectation 

for the Redevelopment, and the basis upon which the Development Partner was selected pursuant 
to the RFQ, is that there shall be the construction of two (2) residential duplexes, within each duplex 
to be two (2) affordable housing family units (for a total, therefore, of four (4) units and families). 
Further, the Town, while acknowledging the need for affordable housing, is sensitive to the 
surrounding neighborhood through contextual design and fidelity to land use requirements to the 
extent feasible.  The Town is also looking to have incorporated, wherever feasible, energy 
conservation features and green building techniques. The Development Partner shall use best efforts 
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to incorporate these goals in accordance with the RFQ and the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement (the “Town’s Redevelopment Goals”).   

 
The Property is situated within a mixed neighborhood of predominantly single-family 

residences with some multi-family homes.  The Property has roughly 118 feet of frontage on 
Greenfield Street bordering a commercial district with access to shopping, services, bus lines and 
highway connections.  The topography of the Property is generally level and is served by public 
water and sewer.  There are no wetlands or regulated watercourses on the Property.  The Town’s 
zoning regulations allow for duplex construction in a “Residence B” zone with a 9,000 square foot 
building lot.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Development Partner was pursuant to the RFQ, 
expected to have conducted its own due diligence and analysis of the Redevelopment relevant to 
and in accordance with the Town’s Redevelopment Goals.  With the prior written consent of the 
Town and subject to the procurement of all requisite land use, zoning and subdivision approvals, 
the Property may be divided into two (2) parcels.  If the Property is subdivided, all defined terms in 
this Agreement and references thereto, including, without limitation and by way of example only, 
“Property” “Redevelopment,” and “Ground Lease” shall refer to as well as signify both subdivided 
parcels (with the redevelopment of both parcels, therefore, being governed by and subject to the 
terms and conditions of this Agreement). 

 
Attached hereto as Schedule 2 and incorporated herein and made a part hereof by this 

reference are copies of: (i) a conceptual development plan for the Redevelopment (the “Master 
Development Plan”); (ii) a Redevelopment schedule (the “Redevelopment Schedule”), which 
identifies approximately how long the Development Partner anticipates it will take to secure permits 
and approvals, close on financing and complete construction of the Redevelopment; and if requested 
by the Town (ii) a Redevelopment budget (the “Redevelopment Budget”), which specifies the 
anticipated cost of the overall Redevelopment.  Any modifications or amendments to the Master 
Development Plan, the Redevelopment Schedule and/or the Redevelopment Budget (collectively, 
the “Master Plan Documents”) shall be subject to the prior written approval of the Town, which 
approval may be withheld in the Town’s sole discretion. Notwithstanding the foregoing, updates to 
the Redevelopment Schedule shall be submitted to the Town, no less frequently than bi-monthly by 
the Development Partner.   

 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement or in the RFQ, 

the Development Partner acknowledges and agrees that the Town is neither required, nor is 
the Development Partner relying upon the Town, to provide any funding or financing for the 
Redevelopment.   

 
(b) Ownership Structure.  The Development Partner, may with the prior written consent 

of the Town, form an entity that shall be wholly and solely owned by the Development Partner (an 
“Owner Entity,” such term as used herein to refer to the Development Partner should it not form a 
separate entity for such ownership purposes). Control of the Property to be redeveloped shall be 
transferred to Development Partner (or any Owner Entity) pursuant to a long-term ground lease.  It 
is presently anticipated that the rent (“Rent”) under the ground lease (the “Ground Lease”) shall 
be Ten and 00/100 Dollars ($10.00) paid at execution thereof.  The Parties acknowledge that the 
Ground Lease shall include provisions: (i) restricting the Property to use for affordable housing; (ii) 
prohibiting the demolition of buildings and improvements except as contemplated by the 
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Redevelopment; (iii) requiring periodic provision of financial, physical condition and affordability 
compliance reporting; (iv) ensuring compliance with laws, regulations, and program requirements 
to which the Town and/or the Property are subject below; and (v) setting forth all matters concerning 
the Redevelopment that shall be subject to the Town’s approval in accordance with this Agreement.  
The Ground Lease will be recorded on the Town’s land records.  In addition, the Town may require 
the execution of a declaration of restrictive and affordability covenants, in form and substance 
satisfactory to the Town, which would be similarly recorded on the Town’s land records. 

 
 (c) Architect.  If Development Partner deems the services of an Architect are necessary, 
then the Development Partner shall submit to the Town for its prior approval a proposed architect 
for the Redevelopment (the “Architect”) and which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or 
delayed.  If in the judgment of the Development Partner it shall become necessary or appropriate to 
remove and replace the Town-approved Architect, terminate or exercise any remedies under any 
contract with the Architect, or engage any other person to perform work within the scope of work 
of the Architect, Development Partner shall so notify the Town.  The Town shall have the right to 
approve a substitute Architect in accordance with this Agreement.  All fees charged by the Architect 
for services previously rendered, or to be rendered, with respect to the Redevelopment, to the extent 
allowable, shall be included as project expenses and paid, or reimbursed, as applicable, from the 
Redevelopment budget sources.  Nothing herein shall prohibit the Development Partner from 
amending or renegotiating the Architect contract. 
 

(d) Predevelopment Costs.  The term “Predevelopment Costs” shall mean all 
reasonable, third-party, out of pocket costs incurred in connection with the Redevelopment prior to 
Closing, including without limitation such costs incurred in the performance of obligations under 
this Agreement prior to Closing. On and after the Effective Date, the Development Partner shall be 
responsible for paying all Predevelopment Costs incurred subsequent to the Effective Date, subject 
to any reimbursement at Closing as may be provided for a part of the Development Partner’s 
financing.  Predevelopment Costs shall not include costs which are ineligible to be paid from project 
sources, or expenses incurred to any affiliate, employee or other person related to the Development 
Partner unless disclosed to the Town in advance of incurring the expense, and approved by the 
Town, in writing. 
 

3. Redevelopment Responsibilities. 
 

 (a) Development Partner Responsibilities. Without limiting any other obligations 
expressly provided herein, the Development Partner shall be responsible for all development 
services in connection with the design, construction and occupancy of the Redevelopment, as well 
as carrying out all other work for which the Development Partner is responsible, as such 
responsibilities are detailed in this Agreement.  The services delivered by the Development Partner 
shall include all development services reasonably required to complete the planning and 
development of the Redevelopment, and, except as otherwise provided herein, to facilitate, or to 
enter into, agreements with other service providers to complete the Redevelopment, including, but 
not limited to: 

 



 

 
Page | 4 

i. Establishing phasing and timetables, securing financing, obtaining necessary 
governmental approvals (with the support of the Town), and selecting a general contractor 
or construction manager (as further described below);  

 
ii. Identifying any, if any, necessary public improvements and site infrastructure 

and developing a funding plan for and constructing the same; 
 
iii. Entering into, or facilitating entering into, contracts or agreements, consistent 

with the terms of this Agreement, necessary or convenient for completion of the 
Redevelopment, which contracts or agreements may be assigned, as appropriate, by the 
Development Partner to any Owner Entity at or prior to the financial closing for the 
Redevelopment (the “Closing”).  When selecting third-party contractors, the Development 
Partner shall be, or, as the case may be, shall cause any Owner Entity to be alert to the 
requirements of the any lenders and other funders of the Redevelopment (collectively, 
“Funders”) and or any regulatory entity having jurisdiction over the Redevelopment or the 
Parties (collectively, “Regulators”) including without limitation requirements pertaining to 
identity-of-interest.  Awards shall be made with the input of the Town to the bidder or offeror 
whose bid or offer, in the Development Partner’s reasonable judgment, is most advantageous 
to the Redevelopment, taking into consideration price, quality and other factors reasonably 
deemed by the Parties to be relevant; the Development Partner shall not, and shall ensure 
any Owner Entity does not, knowingly employ or contract with any third-party contractor 
which has been debarred by any Regulators and shall cause any Owner Entity to promptly 
terminate any contracts with any third-party contractor that is subsequently debarred;   

 
iv. Causing itself or any Owner Entity entering into a contract (the “GC 

Contract”) with a general contractor or construction manager pursuant to the provisions 
above (the “General Contractor”) for the Redevelopment.  Such contract shall set either a 
fixed price or guaranteed maximum price or another pricing mechanism acceptable to the 
Town; the cost of which shall be included in the Redevelopment Budget.  Further, the 
Development Partner will cause the General Contractor to issue payment and performance 
bonds by a nationally, financially recognized bonding company, in forms acceptable to the 
Town and in an amount no less than the contract price for the Redevelopment.  Such bonds 
will be obtained and in place prior to the commencement of any work by the General 
Contractor and shall remain in full force and effect under terms and conditions acceptable to 
the Town. In addition, the Town shall be named as an additional obligee on such bonds; 

 
v. Conducting site planning, configuration, and determining all necessary 

governmental approvals for such plans, including the preparation, submission and 
prosecution of all necessary land use approvals, subject to the input and involvement of the 
Town.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Development Partner shall 
involve the Town in all meetings with municipal staff and officials and all land use hearings 
related to land use approvals and the Town may provide a representative at each such 
meeting or hearing; 

 
vi. Overseeing and conducting pre-construction and construction activities, 

including design, engineering, and construction of the Redevelopment; 
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vii. Ensuring compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations 

applicable to the Redevelopment;   
 
viii. Maintaining regular communication with the Town as more fully set forth 

below; 
 
ix. Paying Predevelopment Costs as set forth above;   
 
x. Providing all guarantees required to complete the Redevelopment including, 

but not limited to those required by any or any Funders such as: construction completion 
guarantees; 

 
xi. Maintaining, and causing all third-party contractors to maintain all requisite 

and reasonable insurance for the Redevelopment of this size and type, such insurance to be 
first submitted to the Town for its prior written approval; 

 
xii. Carrying out the Community Engagement and Planning Process, and in 

connection therewith and in furtherance thereof;  
 
xiii. To the extent necessary, in cooperation with the Town and, any approved 

management agent, planning and administration, including approval of payments of 
relocation benefits, regulatory compliance and coordination of relocation activities 
necessary for the Redevelopment;  

 
xiv. Market the Redevelopment and develop a waiting list, as applicable, for the 

sale of the units (Town staff may assist); 
 
xv. Subject to the Town’s prior written approval and a declaration of covenants 

to be filed on the Fairfield land records, set a sales price (and/or management fee, if 
proposed) in accordance with such approvals and said declaration regarding the units to 
comprise the Redevelopment; and 

 
xvi. Complying with any applicable requirements of Funders and Regulators.  

(b) Town’s Responsibilities.  The Town is responsible for the following activities related 
to the Redevelopment: 

 
i. Reviewing and approving any proposed modifications or amendments to any 

of the Master Plan Documents; the Architect, the General Contractor and any other service 
providers providing professional or other services in connection with the Redevelopment 
(collectively, the “Development Team”) and any replacements thereto, and such other 
matters as are set forth herein or in the RFQ;  

ii. Attending to, with the Development Partner’s assistance upon request, any 
required or remaining Community Engagement and Planning Process;   

iii. Assisting the Development Partner, at no third-party cost to the Town, with 
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the matters identified in Section 3(a)(xiv)-(xvi);  
iv. Review and approve any proposed restrictions or conditions to be imposed 

on the Property in connection with the land use approvals and participate at Development 
Partner’s request in all meetings with municipal staff and officials and all land use hearings;  

v. Oversee the demolition of the existing structures located on the Property and 
abatement and removal of any asbestos containing materials in certain of the floor titles that 
may be present in the existing building (the “Town Demolition and Abatement Work”); 
and 

vi. Entering into the Ground Lease as described above. 
The Development Partner shall carry out all of its responsibilities delineated in Section 

3(a)(xiv)-(xvi) above and otherwise perform its duties under this Agreement, coincident with the 
Town’s responsibilities, including the Town Demolition and Abatement Work.  Therefore, the 
Development Partner shall coordinate with the Town any access to the Property that the 
Development Partner may need in order to fulfill its responsibilities and duties, including during the 
Town Demolition and Abatement Work. 

(c) Redevelopment Financing. The Development Partner will explore all viable 
funding options for the Redevelopment.  The Development Partner shall use its good faith efforts to 
secure all financing necessary to complete the Redevelopment and assure the Redevelopment’s 
long-term viability. The Development Partner shall bear its internal costs associated with 
completing the applications, projections and other documentation associated with applying for 
Redevelopment financing as part of its overhead; provided, however, out-of-pocket costs such as 
professional fees, application fees, post-award fees or other fees charged by a funder or potential 
funder in connection with securing Redevelopment funds shall be treated as project expenses.  The 
Parties shall cooperate to structure the plan for Redevelopment in order to achieve the most 
competitive Applications reasonably possible, which may incorporate energy efficiency, green 
design features, include efforts to create local employment opportunities, etc. 

 
 (d) Reporting.  The Development Partner agrees to keep the Town informed of its 
progress during the Redevelopment.  To that end, the Development Partner shall provide the Town 
with periodic reports that detail the status of the Redevelopment.  Such reports shall be provided no 
less frequently than monthly (each, a “Monthly Report” and collectively, the “Monthly Reports”).  
Such Monthly Reports shall include, at a minimum: a description of the predevelopment and 
construction work performed at the Property, progress in maintaining the Redevelopment Schedule, 
status of all applications, certifications and permits necessary for the Redevelopment, progress in 
meeting hiring goals, and, monthly expenditures as compared to the Redevelopment budget, a 
description of the status of construction and the timing of conversion to any permanent or takeout 
financing.   

 
 4. Environmental Conditions and Site Investigation.  
 

(a) Property and Pre-existing Conditions.  The Town currently owns the Property.  The 
Town shall ground lease the Property to the Development Partner and any, if any, Owner Entity in 
order to facilitate the Redevelopment as described above.  The Parties acknowledge and agree that 
except as provided in this Section 4, the Town will not be liable for any pre-existing conditions on 
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the Property, unless such pre-existing conditions were known to the Town and not disclosed to the 
Development Partner.   

 
(b) Site Investigation.  The Development Partner shall be responsible for submitting all 

required documents to any other governmental entity, as required by applicable law and regulation, 
for review of the environmental impact of the Redevelopment and the Property in accordance with 
applicable laws.  The Town shall provide to the Development Partner any testing performed to date 
on the Property of which the Town has actual knowledge.  The Development Partner shall cause, to 
the extent required or necessary, environmental and engineering consultants to perform 
environmental, hazardous materials and geo-environmental investigations (“Investigations”) and 
to prepare remediation estimates as well as any additional reports required for compliance with 
applicable laws (all of which shall be treated as a project expense).  The Development Partner shall 
deliver drafts of the Investigations to the Town for its review and comment. 
 

(c) Remediation Costs and Responsibilities Prior to Closing.  The Parties will work in 
good faith to modify the Redevelopment Budget as required to budget for any remediation costs 
(excluding those arising from a breach of Section 4(f)).  Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, 
each Party reserves the right to reasonably consider such costs as giving rise to infeasibility and 
termination in accordance with Section 5(a).  The Development Partner and the Town will mutually 
determine the scope and timing of remediation and demolition activities to comply with the 
requirements of all Funders and Regulators.   

 
(d) Discovery of Prohibited Substances.  In the event that the Development Partner 

encounters any Prohibited Substances (defined below) on the Property not previously identified 
through testing, the Development Partner shall promptly notify the Town in writing. 

 
(e) Environmental Insurance.  If required by any Funder or Regulator, the Development 

Partner shall obtain environmental insurance, if such insurance is available at a reasonable cost to 
Development Partner, the cost of which shall be a project expense, provided that the Redevelopment 
Budget can support such additional expense.  

 
(f) Covenant Regarding Prohibited Substances.  The Development Partner shall not 

bring onto the Property, or permit its agents, contractors or employees to bring onto the Property 
any (i) asbestos or asbestos-containing material or polychlorinated biphenyl material, or (ii) 
hazardous substances or hazardous waste as defined under any federal, state or local law, that may 
require remediation under applicable law (other than quantities of such substances, including 
gasoline, diesel fuel and the like as are customary and necessary to prosecute construction of the 
Redevelopment), or (iii) soil containing volatile organic compounds (collectively (i)-(iii) are the 
“Prohibited Substances”).  The Development Partner shall be liable for the consequences of, and 
responsible for proper removal and lawful disposal, at its sole expense, of any Prohibited Substances 
brought onto the site resulting from a violation by such party of this Section 4(f) and shall be 
responsible for any harmful release of any Prohibited Substances caused by the negligent failure of 
such party or its agents, contractors or employees to protect against any further harm caused by any 
Prohibited Substances already on the site.  The Development Partner further covenants and agrees 
to indemnify, defend and hold the Town free and harmless from and against any and all losses, 
liabilities, penalties, claims, fines, litigation, demands, costs, judgments, suits, proceedings, 
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damages, disbursements or expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees which may at any time 
be imposed upon, reasonably incurred by or asserted or awarded against the other party in 
connection with or arising from a violation of this Section 4(f).  The provisions of this Section 4(f) 
shall survive Closing and the termination of this Agreement relative only to any claims that arises 
from an event that occurs prior to Closing regardless of when the claim is presented. 

 
(g) Environmental Responsibilities After Closing.  
 

i. After the Closing, the Town shall only be liable for the following 
environmental conditions on the portion of the Property as to which the Closing has taken 
place: (i) environmental conditions caused by Town or its agents, contractors or employees 
after Closing, (ii) pre-existing environmental conditions which the Town had actual 
knowledge of but failed to disclose the same to the Development Partner in writing before 
Closing or (iii) Prohibited Substances brought onto the Property by the Town or any of its 
agents, contractors or employees after Closing. 

 
ii. After Closing, the Development Partner shall be liable for the following 

environmental conditions on the Property: (i) environmental conditions caused by 
Development Partner or its agents, contractors or employees after Closing, (ii) pre-existing 
environmental conditions which the Development Partner had actual knowledge of but failed 
to disclose to the Town in writing before Closing or (iii) Prohibited Substances brought onto 
the Property by the Development Partner or any of its agents, contractors or employees after 
Closing. 

 
iii. After Closing, the Town will work in good faith with the Development 

Partner to identify third-party funding sources to pay for any unforeseen remediation costs 
(without limiting the responsibilities of the Development Partner under otherwise applicable 
provisions of this Section 4). 

 
iv. Any recourse against the Town pursuant to this Section 4(f) and any 

indemnity shall be limited to and subject to applicable state and federal laws, including, 
without limitation, CGS Section 52-557(n). 

 
(h) Development Partner and Owner Entity Responsibilities After Closing. The 

Development Partner and any Owner Entity hereby covenants and agrees to indemnify, defend and 
hold Town free and harmless from and against any and all losses, liabilities, penalties, claims, fines, 
litigation, demands, costs, judgments, suits, proceedings, damages, disbursements or expenses, 
including reasonable attorneys’ fees (collectively “Losses”) which may at any time be imposed 
upon, reasonably incurred by or asserted or awarded against the Town (excluding those matters for 
which the Town is responsible in accordance with Section 4(g)(i)), respectively, in connection with 
or arising from:  

 
i. The existence of any Prohibited Substance first placed on, in, or under all or 

any portion of the Property on or after Closing; or 
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ii. Any violation of any federal, state or local environmental laws by the 
Development Partner at or relating to the Property that arises out of their respective acts or 
omissions of the Town after Closing.  

 
The provisions of this Section 4(h) shall survive Closing and the termination of this Agreement. 
 
Provided, however, the foregoing obligation to indemnify, defend and hold the  Town harmless shall 
not extend to Losses that result from the acts or failures to act of the Town, and Losses due to third-
party bodily injury or property damage claims asserted after the Closing but arising from exposure 
to any existing environmental conditions on the Property known to the Town but not previously 
disclosed to the Development Partner prior to the Closing. 
 

5. Termination. 
 
a. Termination for Infeasibility.  The Development Partner or the Town may 

terminate this Agreement prior to the Closing in the event that the Parties mutually agree 
that the objectives of this Agreement have been made impossible or impractical because of 
unforeseeable events beyond the reasonable control of either party (an “Infeasibility 
Event”) upon thirty (30) days written notice to the other party.  In the event of a termination 
on account of an Infeasibility Event, the Parties shall not be reimbursed for costs or expenses 
incurred in connection with the Redevelopment. The Development Partner and the Town 
agree that the failure to achieve any of the following conditions (each, a “Development 
Milestone”) shall constitute an Infeasibility Event:  

i. Closing within the time frame (including extensions) provided for in 
any financing or funding commitments;    

ii. Receipt of all necessary federal, state and local approvals required for 
the Town to enter into the Ground Lease with respect to the Redevelopment, on or 
before January 31, 2023; 

iii. Receipt of a commitment from a title insurance company reasonably 
acceptable to the Development Partner to insure, at standard rates, the leasehold 
interest granted under a Ground Lease or the interests of Funders free and clear of all 
liens and encumbrances except those deemed acceptable to such Funders, on or 
before January 31, 2023, or 

iv. Receipt of firm commitments for the project financing in amounts not 
less than the amounts shown in the Preliminary Redevelopment Budget, as amended 
from time to time prior to Closing, on or before January 31, 2023 (“Award Date”). 

Either Party may elect to extend any date provided in this Section 5(a) for any Development 
Milestone by a period not to exceed five (5) days; provided that, such Party reasonably 
believes that the applicable Development Milestone can be achieved by such extended date, 
and further provided that such Party commences and diligently prosecutes all reasonable 
actions to cause such Development Milestone to be achieved. 
 

b. Termination for Cause.  Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default (as 
defined below), the Party not responsible for such Event of Default (collectively, the “Non-
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Defaulting Party”) may terminate this Agreement for cause (“Termination for Cause”), 
by giving of written notice to the other Party of the occurrence of such Event of Default, 
which Termination for Cause shall be effective thirty (30) days following such notice unless 
the Party responsible for such Event of Default (collectively, the “Defaulting Party”) cures 
the same prior to the effective date thereof.  The following events shall constitute an “Event 
of Default”: 
 

i. Any Party breaches any material obligation herein; or 
 
ii. Any Party becomes insolvent, is adjudged as bankrupt, makes a 

general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or becomes a subject of any 
proceeding commenced under any statute or law for the relief of debtors, and the 
other Party reasonably believes that such action or proceeding has, or is likely to 
have, a negative impact on the Redevelopment; provided that such Party shall have 
ninety (90) days to effect the cure or dismissal of any such voluntary or involuntary 
proceeding, and further provided that if the Party pursuing dismissal is diligently 
proceeding, and further provided the project lenders concur, such Party shall have an 
additional ninety (90) days to cure; or  

 
iii. A receiver, trustee or liquidator of any of the property or income of 

the Party or any guarantor of the Party’s performance hereunder shall be appointed 
and shall not be removed within ninety (90 days, and the other Party reasonably 
determines that such action or proceeding has, or is likely to have, a negative impact 
on the Redevelopment; provided that such Party shall have 120 days to effect a cure 
by the removal of  such receiver, trustee or liquidator, and further provided that if the 
Party pursuing a cure is diligently proceeding, and further provided the project 
lenders concur, such Party shall have an additional ninety (90) days to cure; or 

 
iv. A Party unilaterally withdraws from the Redevelopment except as 

expressly allowed by the terms of the Agreement; or  
 
v. A Party fails to make an undisputed payment to a third-party 

contractor when due and in the normal course of business, if funds for such payment 
have been received; or  

 
vi. The Development Partner fails to obtain and maintain the insurance 

coverage required herein; or 
 
vii. The Development Partner fails to impose the insurance obligations 

described hereunder on third-party contractors; or 
 
viii. The Development Partner fails to take appropriate efforts or use due 

diligence to ensure that third-party contractors possess the requisite licenses and 
qualifications necessary for work contracted to them; or  
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ix. There is a change in a controlling interest of the direct or indirect 
ownership of the Development Partner that has not been approved in writing by the 
Town; or 

 
x. The Development Partner fails to provide the Town with the Monthly 

Reports as required hereunder. 
 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, suspension from participation in 
any government programs, provided such suspension is not revoked, reversed or otherwise 
resolved in ninety (90) days, shall be grounds for termination of this Agreement for cause.  
By execution of this Agreement, the Development Partner and the Town each hereby certify 
to the other Party, that it is not suspended, debarred or otherwise prohibited from 
participation in any government programs. 
 
In the event of Termination for Cause, the Defaulting Party shall reimburse the Non-
Defaulting Party for any unreimbursed Predevelopment Costs incurred by the Non-
Defaulting Party prior to the date of the termination notice. 
 

c. Termination for Convenience.  Both the Town and the Development Partner 
reserve the right to terminate this Agreement at any time for the convenience of the 
terminating Party (the “Moving Party”) if the Moving Party shall determine in good faith 
that it is contrary to its interests to proceed with the Redevelopment.  In the event of a 
termination for convenience under this Section, the Moving Party shall be liable to the other 
Party for reasonable and proper unreimbursed costs resulting from, or incurred prior to the 
effective date of such termination which costs shall be paid to the other Party within 30 days 
of receipt by the Moving Party of a properly presented claim setting out in detail: (i) the total 
cost of all third-party, out-of-pocket costs incurred prior to the effective date of termination; 
(ii) the cost (including reasonably anticipated costs) of settling and paying claims under 
subcontracts and material orders for work performed and materials and supplies delivered to 
the site, or for settling other liabilities of the non-Moving Party incurred in performance of 
its obligations hereunder, including legal fees; and (iii) if the Town is the Moving Party, any 
cost expended by Development Partner for preserving and protecting the work already 
performed until the Town or any designee or assignee of the Town takes possession thereof 
or assumes responsibility therefor.   

 
d. Development Partner Shall Deliver Work Product in Event of Termination.  

In the event that this Agreement is terminated under this Section 5, and provided the Town 
has performed its obligations in connection with such termination, the Development Partner 
agrees that it shall promptly deliver to the Town, or cause to be delivered to the Town, any 
transferable, and useable third-party work product generated in connection with the 
Redevelopment requested by the Town, and will assign to the Town all of its right, title, and 
interest to such work product, to the extent such work product is assignable, without 
reservation, provided that, except in the case of a Termination for Cause where Development 
Partner is the Defaulting Party, Development Partner shall be reimbursed for any out of 
pocket costs incurred by Development Partner to produce such requested work product.  The 
Development Partner shall be responsible for obtaining any necessary third-party consents 
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to such transfer and assignment.  This Section 5(d) shall survive termination of this 
Agreement. 

 
6. Indemnification.   
 

a. Indemnification of the Town. To the extent permitted by law, the 
Development Partner shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Town and its respective 
selectpersons, directors, officers, agents, employees, attorneys and affiliates hereunder from 
any loss, cost, damage, claim, demand, suit, liability, judgment and expense (including 
reasonable attorney fees actually incurred and other costs of litigation) (collectively, a 
“Liability”) arising out of or relating to any injury, disease, or death of persons, or damage 
to or loss of property to the extent resulting from any material breach of this Agreement or 
intentional wrongful acts by the Development Partner or its affiliates, agents, partners, 
employees or third-party contractors arising or occurring after the Effective Date; provided, 
however, that Development Partner shall not be required to indemnify the Town if the 
Town’s negligence or willful misconduct in satisfying its respective responsibilities under 
this Agreement is the direct cause of such Liability.  The provisions of this Section 6 (a) 
shall survive Closing and the termination of this Agreement. 

 
b. Indemnification of the Development Partner. To the extent permitted by law, 

the Town shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Development Partner and its 
respective directors, officers, agents, employees and affiliates hereunder from any Liability 
arising out of or relating to any injury, disease, or death of persons, or damage to or loss of 
property to the extent resulting from any material breach of this Agreement or intentional 
wrongful acts by the Town or its affiliates, agents, partners, employees or third-party 
contractors arising or occurring after the Effective Date; provided, however, that the Town 
shall not be required to indemnify the Development Partner if the Development Partner’s 
negligence or willful misconduct in satisfying its responsibilities under this Agreement is 
the direct cause of such Liability. The aforementioned notwithstanding, recourse against the 
Town shall be limited to and subject to applicable federal and state laws and any applicable 
municipal ordinances.  

 
7. Compliance with Laws and Other Requirements. Each Party shall fully comply with 

all applicable laws and regulations applicable to such Party with respect to workers’ compensation, 
social security, unemployment insurance, hours of labor, wages, working conditions, licensing and 
other employer-employee related matters, including, without limitation, all laws, rules and 
regulations with respect to non-discrimination based on race, sex or otherwise, and, if applicable 
only, MBE/WBE, and Section 3 of the Housing and Urban Redevelopment Act of 1968.   

 
8. Warranties.   The representations and warranties of the respective Parties contained 

in this Section are a material inducement for each Party to enter into this Agreement. Such 
representations and warranties shall be true, accurate and complete as of the date hereof and as of 
the Closing and shall be deemed restated and material as though incorporated in all project 
documents to which any Party, as the case may be, is a party.   
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a. Development Partner’s Warranties.  The Development Partner represents 

and warrants to the Town that (i) the Development Partner is and will continue to be duly 
organized, and is in good standing under the laws of the State of Connecticut, (ii) the 
Development Partner has and will have all necessary power, authority, licenses and staff 
resources for the undertaking of its obligations under this Agreement, (iii) this Agreement 
has been duly entered into and is the legally binding obligation of the Development Partner, 
(iv) this Agreement will not violate any judgment, law, or agreement to which the 
Development Partner is a party or is subject, and (v) there is no claim pending, or to the best 
knowledge of the Development Partner, threatened, that would impede the Development 
Partner’s ability to perform its obligations hereunder.  The Development Partner shall not 
hereafter enter into any agreement that would or modify any existing agreement in a manner 
that would, impair its ability to perform its obligations hereunder, and will notify the Town 
if any suit is threatened or law proposed which would impair its ability to perform its 
obligations hereunder. 

 
b. Town’s Warranties.  The Town represents and warrants to the Development 

Partner that, based on present circumstances, to its knowledge, (i) the Town has and will 
have all necessary power and authority under Connecticut law for the undertaking of its 
obligations under this Agreement, (ii) this Agreement has been duly entered into and is the 
legally binding obligation of the Town, and (iii) this Agreement will not violate any 
judgment, law, consent decree, or agreement to which the Town is a party or is subject to 
and will not violate any law or ordinance under which the Town is organized.  The Town 
further represents and warrants to the Development Partner that, as to the Property and the 
improvements presently located thereon, (iv) the Town owns legal and beneficial fee title to 
the Property and improvements free and clear of all liens and encumbrances.  At Closing, 
the Town shall execute and deliver an owner’s affidavit sufficient to enable the Development 
Partner to obtain leasehold and lenders’ policies of title insurance without exceptions for 
liens or inchoate liens of any nature; (v) the Town has no knowledge of any governmental 
plans to change the highway or road system in the vicinity of the Property or to restrict or 
change access from any such highway or road to the Property or of any pending or threatened 
condemnation or eminent domain proceedings relating to or affecting the Property, including 
a temporary taking, street widening or change of grade; and (vi) there are no existing, 
presently pending, or, to the best of the Town's knowledge, threatened actions, suits, 
proceedings, claims or governmental investigations which would have an adverse material 
affect upon the use and operations of the Property.  The Town will notify the Development 
Partner if any suit is threatened, or law proposed which would materially impair its ability 
to perform its obligations hereunder.  

 
9. Term.  This Agreement shall begin upon execution hereof and, unless sooner 

terminated in accordance with the terms provided herein, shall expire automatically on the date that 
is three (3) years after the Effective Date.  The foregoing shall not affect obligations identified as 
continuing beyond the term of the Agreement.   

 
10. Connecticut Law.  Connecticut law shall govern the interpretation and enforcement 

of this Agreement.   
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11. Access and Care of Confidential Data. Planning for the Redevelopment may require 

access and sharing of confidential information between the Development Partner and the Town.  
The Development Partner acknowledges that this information is confidential and private within both 
the ordinary language meaning and the statutory and regulatory meaning of the terms depending 
upon the specific data element.   The Development Partner acknowledges that in taking possession 
of this information that it becomes a “holder” of such information and obliged to take any and all 
steps to protect this data from loss, disclosure or be accessed by unauthorized individuals.   The 
Development Partner shall comply with all applicable federal and state statutes, laws, regulations, 
policies and other requirements, including without limitation the federal Privacy Act, HIPAA and 
pertinent State of Connecticut SSHP program statutes and data privacy laws. 

 
12. Standard of Care. As used in this Agreement, “best efforts” means, with respect to a 

given goal, the effort, consistent with the best practices in the affordable housing development 
industry that a reasonable person in the position of the promisor would use so as to achieve that goal 
as expeditiously as possible. 

 
13. No Waiver.  A waiver by either party of a provision hereof shall not constitute a 

waiver of any different or subsequent provision.   
 
14. Notices.  Any notices required to be sent to a Party hereunder shall be provided to 

the address as set forth below or such other address as any Party may designate in a notice provided 
in accordance with this paragraph:  

 
To the Town:   
 
Town of Fairfield 
275 Old Post Road 
Fairfield, CT 06824 
Attn:  Brenda L. Kupchick, First Selectwoman 

 
With a copy to:  
 
Hoopes Morganthaler Rausch & Scaramozza LLC 
185 Asylum Street, 15th Floor 
Hartford, CT 06103 
Attn: James M. Scaramozza, Esq. (jscaramozza@hmrslaw.com) 

 
 

To Development Partner:    
 
Habitat for Humanity of Coastal Fairfield County, Inc. 
1542 Barnum Avenue 
Bridgeport, CT 06610 
Attn:  Kevin Moore 
 

mailto:jscaramozza@hmrslaw.com
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With a copy to:   
 
Jackson Law Group CT, LLC 
2 Corporate Drive, Suite 238 
Shelton, CT 06484 
Attn:  Bruce Jackson, Esq.  (bdj@jlgct.com) 

 
For purposes of this Agreement, notice shall be sent via certified mail or nationally recognized 
overnight courier and such notice shall be deemed to be received one (1) day after posting thereof. 
 
 15. Merger.  The Parties acknowledge and agree that all prior discussions, negotiations, 
letters of intent, and any other writings by and between the Parties shall be deemed to be superseded 
and replaced by the terms of this Agreement, and of no force or effect.  
 

16. Assignment.  The Development Partner shall not assign its rights or delegate any of 
its duties hereunder except to any Owner Entity or affiliate controlled by or under common control 
with the Development Partner but only upon the prior written approval of the Town. 

 
17. Confidentiality.  The Parties acknowledge that in the course of the performance of 

the obligations set forth in this Agreement, a Party may provide certain information to the other 
Parties that is confidential and proprietary, and which may be subject to confidentiality and privacy 
requirements under applicable laws or regulations.  Any such information that is provided by one 
Party to another and marked as confidential, and any personal identifying information related to any 
resident or occupancy of the Property regardless of any marking of such information, shall be held 
by the receiving Party in strict confidence and the receiving Party shall take reasonable precautions 
to maintain the confidentiality of such information.  Except as required by law or in connection with 
securing Funders  or under the Freedom of Information Act, the receiving Party shall restrict access 
to such information to those employees, agents and professional advisors of the receiving Party that 
have a specific need to know such information, and then only provided that such person agrees to 
maintain the confidentiality of such information.  Upon a termination of this Agreement, all 
confidential information described in this Section shall be returned to, or destroyed at the direction 
of, the Party originally providing such confidential information. 

 
18. Miscellaneous.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts and 

each of such counterparts, for all purposes, shall be deemed to be an original but all such 
counterparts together shall constitute but one and the same instrument, binding upon all parties 
hereto, notwithstanding that all of such parties may not have executed the same counterpart.  
Signatures delivered by facsimile transmission or PDF shall constitute electronic signatures and 
shall be binding. No provision of this Agreement shall be construed by any court or other judicial 
authority against any party hereto by reason of such party’s being deemed to have drafted or 
structured such provisions.  As used herein, the terms “include,” “including” and similar terms shall 
be construed as if followed by the phrase “but not limited to.”  The terms “hereof,” “herein” and 
“hereunder,” and words of similar import, shall be construed to refer to this Agreement as a whole, 
and not to any particular article or provision, except as expressly so stated.  The Schedules and 
Exhibits attached hereto are hereby incorporated in and made part of this Agreement.  The Parties 
agree that this Agreement shall not be recorded.  If Development Partner causes this Agreement or 

mailto:bdj@jlgct.com
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any notice or memorandum thereof or affidavit relating thereto to be recorded, this Agreement shall 
be null and void at the option of the Town.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Connecticut.  No waiver of any provision or condition of 
this Agreement by any party shall be valid unless in writing signed by such party.  No such waiver 
shall be taken as a waiver of any other or similar provision or of any future event, act, or default.  If 
any provision of this Agreement or application to any party or circumstances shall be determined 
by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid and unenforceable to any extent, the remainder 
of this Agreement or the application of such provision to such person or circumstances, other than 
those as to which it is so determined invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and 
each provision hereof shall be valid and shall be enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law.   

 
19. Exhibits.  The following Schedule and Exhibits are attached to this Agreement. 
 
Schedule 1 –  Property Description 
Schedule 2 - Copies of Master Plan Documents 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
[Remainder of Page Left Blank; Signature Page Follows] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Agreement to be executed as 
of the date first written above. 

 

  TOWN OF FAIRFIELD:  
 
   

     
 By:____________________________________ 
Name: Brenda L. Kupchick 
Its: First Selectwoman 
 
 
 
DEVELOPMENT PARTNER: 
 

 
 HABITAT FOR HUMANITY OF COASTAL 

FAIRFIELD COUNTY, INC. 
 

      By:____________________________________ 
Name:  
Its:   
 
 
 
  



 

 

Schedule 1 
 

Property Description* 
 
 

ALL THAT CERTAIN piece or parcel of land, together with the buildings and 
improvements thereon, situated in the Town of Fairfield, County of Fairfield, and State of 
Connecticut, and bounded and described as follows: 
 
SOUTHERLY:  On Greenfield Street, 118 feet; 
 
EASTERLY AND 
NORTHERLY:  On land now or formerly of Horace Smith Estate; 
 
WESTERLY:   On land now or formerly of one Zbynetski 

 
 
 
 
 
 
* An additional approximately 9,000 square foot parcel and building lot, 
identified in certain of the Master Plan Documents, shall also comprise the 
Property, such additional land to be provided from certain adjacent Town-owned 
property.  



 

 

Schedule 2 
 

See Attached  
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CONSERVATION COMMISSION 
FAIRFIELD, CONNECTICUT 

MINUTES OF INLAND WETLANDS AGENCY MEETING 
JUNE 1, 2022 

 
The Conservation Commission, acting as the Inland Wetlands Agency of the Town of Fairfield, 
held a Meeting on Wednesday, June 1, 2022 at 7:00 p.m. in the Fairfield Board of Education 
Conference Room, 501 Kings Highway East, Fairfield, Connecticut and via Webex. 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: Lukas Thomas, Chairman; Dabney Bowen, Vice-Chair; Jay Fain 
 
MEMBERS ABSENT: Richard Boucher; Brian McCann; Gerry Alessi; Amanda Mertens 
Campbell 
 
ALTERNATES: Peter Hood 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Timothy Bishop, Conservation Director; Sarah Neafsey, Wetlands 
Compliance Officer; members of the public 
 
[N.B.: NUMBERING IN THE MINUTES BELOW CORRESPONDS TO THE MEETING 
AGENDA, AND REFLECTS THE ORDER IN WHICH ITEMS WERE DISCUSSED.] 
 
I.  CALL TO ORDER: Chairman Thomas called the meeting to order at 7:08 p.m.  
 
II.  APPOINTMENT OF ALTERNATES: Chairman Thomas appointed Peter Hood to sit 

as a full member.  
 
III.  APPROVAL OF DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
 
There was unanimous consent by the Agency to approve the following meeting minutes, as 
drafted: 
 

1. Sitewalk: May 1, 2022 
 

2. Inland Wetlands Agency Meeting: May 4, 2022 
 

3. Sitewalk: May 11, 2022 
 

4. Commissioner Training: May 18, 2022 
 

5. Sitewalk: May 25, 2022 
 
IV.  APPLICATIONS FOR DISCUSSION 
 

2. WP-22-158, John Fallon, 150 Villa Ave 
Assessor’s Map 33, Parcel 75A 
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Subdivide into four parcels and construct new houses on three parcels within a 
regulated area. 
 
John Fallon, Attorney for applicant, gave a brief overview of the proposal, noting that the 
entire parcel is proposed to be subdivided to create four parcels – one open space parcel 
and three building lots.  The town will be buying the proposed open space parcel, and the 
other three lots will be donated to the Town by the property owner by way of a warranty 
deed.  This property will be utilized for drainage improvements in the Rooster River 
water shed.  The approval of the subdivision proposal will allow the property owner to be 
assured of a tax benefit.  There will be a restriction in the deed that no buildings or 
structures can be constructed.   
 
Mr. Fain noted that use of the property for flood control improvements is the best 
possible use of the property and that it would be difficult to develop.   
 
Jay Fain moved, and Dabney Bowen seconded, to approve the application with the 
standard and specific conditions of approval.  Motion passed unanimously.  The letter 
conveying the decision is attached (A). 
 

IX.  Public Hearing 
 

3. WP-22-161, 4480 Black Rock LLC, 4480 Black Rock Turnpike 
Map 116 Parcel 3 
Construction of a multi-unit apartment complex with associated parking areas, 
driveways, and storm water retention systems within a regulated area. 
 
The public hearing was opened at 7:15 p.m. 
 
Chairman Thomas stated that a letter has been received from the applicant requesting a 
continuance until July 6 to give the property owner time to find new council. 
 
Jay Fain moved, and Dabney Bowen seconded, to continue the public hearing to July 6.  
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
The public hearing was closed at 7:17 p.m.  The hearing was recorded and is available at 
Independence Hall, 725 Old Post Road, Fairfield, Connecticut. 

 
IV.  APPLICATIONS FOR DISCUSSION 
 

3. WP-22-157, Lucas Papageorge, 177 High Meadow 
Assessor’s Map 229 Parcel 205A 
Construction of a new residential dwelling with in-ground pool, drainage, septic and 
site work within a regulated area 
 
Lucas Papageorge, applicant, stated that there are no wetland soils on site but the 
property is within the upland review area.  They are proposing to build a residential 
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dwelling with a pool, patio and septic system.  Mr. Papageorge noted that they have 
reviewed the staff recommendation and have provided an updated drawing to reflect the 
drainage revisions requested.   Mark Ochman, engineer for the project, stated that they 
have also incorporated berms and swales and have included revisions based on comments 
from the engineering department. 
 
Mr. Fain stated that more time is needed to evaluate the revised plan.  He also noted that 
the planting plan is missing and should be incorporated with the revised plans.   
 
Jay Fain moved and Dabney Bowen seconded to continue the application to the next 
meeting so that the revised plan can be reviewed.  Motion passed unanimously.   

 
3. Declaratory Ruling Request – Bronson Meadows LLC, 2644 Bronson Road 

Assessor’s Map 225 Parcel 20  
Construction of a covered riding ring structure, horse pathway revisions, and site 
walls to accommodate grading associated with the covered riding ring within a 
regulate area. 
 
Jay Fain recused himself from this item and did not participate.   
 
Craig Flaherty, representative for the applicant, gave a brief overview of the proposal, 
noting the improvements that have been constructed on the property between 2016 and 
2020.   
 
Dabney Bowen moved and Peter Hood seconded to find the construction of the proposed 
covered riding ring to be exempt and as-of-right.  Motion passed unanimously.  The letter 
conveying this decision is attached (B).   
 

 
V.  APPLICATIONS FOR RECEIPT 
 

1. WP-22-169, Hudson, 875 Mill Hill Road 
Assessor’s Map 228 Parcel 95 
Installation of a curtain drain and deposition of fill in rear yard and construction of 
an in-ground pool within a regulated area 
 
There was unanimous consent to table the application pending legal notice and 
departmental review. 
 

2. WP-22-184, Sperry, 124 Pansy Road 
Assessor’s Map 123 Parcel 77 
Construction of a single-family dwelling within a regulated area. 
 
There was unanimous consent to table the application pending legal notice and 
departmental review. 
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Mr. Fain requested that all wetland delineations be located on the parcel prior to the 
Commission’s site walk of the property.   

 
VI. BILLS AND BOND RELEASES – none 
 
VII. LEGAL/ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS 
 

1. Show Cause Hearing: Joseph Worthington, 230 Catamount Road 
Map 217 Parcel 23  
Conducted work within a regulated area without a permit 
 
The Show Cause Hearing was opening at 7:38 p.m. 
 
Mr. Thomas noted that the attorney for Mr. Worthington has submitted a letter stating 
their intentions to file the required application to resolve the violation.  Staff noted that 
the attorney has been in contact with the Conservation Department about the new on-line 
permitting process and indicated that the application will be submitted shortly.   
 
There was unanimous consent from the Agency to continue the Show Cause Hearing to 
allow the property owner time to file the required Certificate of Wetlands Conformance.  
 
There was unanimous consent from the Agency to close the show cause hearing. 
 
The show cause hearing was closed at 7:40 p.m.  The hearing was recorded and is 
available at Independence Hall, 725 Old Post Road, Fairfield, Connecticut. 

 
 

2. Show Cause Hearing: Jeanine Norwood, 120 Wakeman Lane, Southport  
Assessors Map 246 Parcel 5C  
Clearing of wetlands vegetation and deposition of material within a wetland 
 
The Show Cause Hearing was opened at 7:40 p.m. 
 
Jeanine Norwood stated that she received notice of the show cause hearing Friday, and 
does not understand why she was required to be there.  She noted that the upland review 
area was not listed on her title search when she purchased the property and that they 
burden of proof to show any wrongdoing is on the Commission. Ms. Norwood submitted 
a copy of the title search to the Agency.  She noted that she felt discriminated against at 
the May show-cause hearing.   
 
Mr. Thomas noted that the show cause hearing was opened at the May meeting and had 
been continued.  Mr. Fain stated that this is a serious matter and that evidence of wetland 
soil clearing was found by the Conservation Director.  Mr. Thomas noted that the 
planting plan was requested to be submitted within 90 days of the May 4 meeting and that 
nothing has been submitted yet.  Mr. Thomas also stated that the title search that Ms. 
Norwood submitted shows that the property contains wetlands and that wetlands permit 
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applications were submitted for the construction of the pool and for the construction of an 
addition.    

 
Jay Fain moved and Dabney Bowen seconded to continue the Show Cause Hearing to the 
July 6 meeting.  Motion passed unanimously.   
 
The show cause hearing was closed at 7:48 p.m.  The hearing was recorded and is 
available at Independence Hall, 725 Old Post Road, Fairfield, Connecticut. 

 
VIII. STAFF REPORT 
 

1. Reports from the Conservation Department – informational 
a. CWC Applications received: 16 
b. Notice of Violations issued: 1 
c. Bonds released: 5 

 
2. Site Walks for June – 

a. 875 Mill Hill Road 
b. 124 Pansy Road  

 
  It was noted that dates for a site walk will circulated via email and properly noticed.  
 
IX. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

1. Town of Fairfield Wetlands Map Amendment 
 
The public hearing was opened at 7:52 p.m.   
 
Megan Raymond, professional wetland scientist and soil scientist with SLR, gave a brief 
overview of the current Town wetlands maps, stating that this map amendment focused 
on the tidally influenced areas.  It was noted that tidal wetlands are present in 23 of the 
180 town wetlands maps.   Ms. Raymond noted that site-specific data was not collected, 
but that topographic position, vegetation and connections to tidal wetlands were used to 
evaluation the data.  This data does not supplant site-specific data.  Overall, 369.3 acres 
of tidal wetlands are proposed to be removed from the Town inland wetlands maps.  Ms. 
Raymond presented the maps showing the summary of the work that was done.   
 
Mr. Fain stated that since these resources are estimations, and are reliable but not 
guaranteed, the following disclaimers should be made on the maps: 
1. Properties that may not appear on the map may still contain inland wetland soil 
2. There may be properties that show tidal wetlands on the maps that may also have 

inland wetlands (dual jurisdiction).   
 

One member of the public spoke in favor of the map amendment.   
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Dabney Bowen moved and Peter Hood seconded to accept the new maps with the 
disclaimers stated above by Commissioner Fain.  Motion passed unanimously.   
 
The public hearing was closed at 8:01 p.m.  The hearing was recorded and is available at 
Independence Hall, 725 Old Post Road, Fairfield, Connecticut. 
 

 
2. WP-22-159, Muddy Puddle II, LLC, 361 Cross Highway 

 
Jay Fain recused himself from this item and left the meeting.   
 
The public hearing was opened at 8:02 p.m.   

 
Jason Spath, Huntington Company, representative for the application stated that a 
planting plan was submitted this week and that test holes were done on April 21 and that 
data was received by the Conservation Department.   
 
Brian Wood, professional soil scientist, noted that he visited the site on May 22 and has 
met with Jay Fain, the soil scientist on record for the application.  They are proposing to 
remove the invasive species, and replant as shown on the planting plan.  There are trees 
along the road that will also need to be removed.    
 
The applicant indicated that they were concerned about the condition for a Conservation 
Easement.  After a brief discussion about the Conservation Easement and a clarification 
about what the easement means, the applicant stated that he no longer is opposed to the 
condition for the Conservation Easement.  The Easement area is to be delineated by a dry 
laid stone wall.   

 
Two members of the public spoke in favor of the application.   

 
Dabney Bowen moved and Peter Hood seconded to close the public hearing.  Motion 
passed unanimously. 
 
The public hearing was closed at 8:24 p.m.  The hearing was recorded and is available at 
Independence Hall, 725 Old Post Road, Fairfield, Connecticut. 
 
Dabney Bowen moved and Peter Hood seconded to approve the application with the 
standard and specific conditions of approval.  Motion passed unanimously.  The letter 
conveying the decision is attached (C). 
 

 
X. OTHER 
 

a. Notice from Cuddy & Feder, LLP,  for City of Bridgeport Inland Wetlands 
Permit Application related to site work and building improvement for 
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Safeguard Properties, LLC at 2710, 2720, and 2668 North Avenue, 
Bridgeport. - Informational  

 
 

b. Discussion of IWPA deadlines for application submissions 
 
Staff has requested that moving forward, the deadline for new application 
submissions should be eight business days before the scheduled monthly meeting 
to allow staff enough time to review the applications for completeness.   
Submission of supplemental or revised materials may be later, at staff’s 
discretion.  It was the consensus of the Agency that the department adopt this new 
policy. 

 
X. ADJOURN 
 

There being no further business, Dabney Bowen moved and Peter Hood seconded to adjourn 
the meeting 8:33 p.m.  Motion passed unanimously. 

 
The audio recording can be found here: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HAZNJlx3XU8 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Sarah Neafsey 
 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HAZNJlx3XU8
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CONSERVATION COMMISSION 
FAIRFIELD, CONNECTICUT 

MINUTES OF INLAND WETLANDS AGENCY MEETING 
MAY 4, 2022 

 
The Conservation Commission, acting as the Inland Wetlands Agency of the Town of Fairfield, 
held a Meeting on Wednesday, May 4, 2022 at 7:00 p.m. in the Fairfield Board of Education 
Conference Room, 501 Kings Highway East, Fairfield, Connecticut and via Webex. 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: Lukas Thomas, Chairman; Richard Boucher, Secretary; Brian 
McCann; Gerry Alessi; Jay Fain; Dabney Bowen 
 
MEMBERS ABSENT:  
 
ALTERNATES: Peter Hood; Amanda Mertens Campbell (via Webex) 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Timothy Bishop, Conservation Director; Sarah Neafsey, Wetlands 
Compliance Officer; members of the public 
 
[N.B.: NUMBERING IN THE MINUTES BELOW CORRESPONDS TO THE MEETING 
AGENDA, AND REFLECTS THE ORDER IN WHICH ITEMS WERE DISCUSSED.] 
 
I.  CALL TO ORDER: Chairman Thomas called the meeting to order at 7:05 p.m.  
 
II.  APPOINTMENT OF ALTERNATES: Chairman Thomas appointed Peter Hood to sit 

as a full member.  
 
III.  APPROVAL OF DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 
 

1. Inland Wetlands Meeting: April 6, 2022: Gerry Alessi moved and Dabney Bowen 
seconded to approve the meeting minutes of April 6, 2022 as drafted.  Motion passed 
unanimously.   
 

2. Sitewalk: April 10, 2022: There was unanimous consent from the Agency to approve the 
sitewalk meeting minutes of April 10, 2022.   

 
IV.  APPLICATIONS FOR DISCUSSION 
 

1. (Cont’) IWP 2018-19-09, Black Rock Realty, LLC, 219 Ash Creek Boulevard 
Assessor’s Map 80 Parcel 4A Request of Landtech for a wetland permit modification 
for the phasing sequence of the project. 
 
Brian Carey, Director of Environmental Services for Landtech, stated that the application 
is in agreement with the staff recommendation.   
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Mr. Fain stated that the 2019 approval has a condition to ensure the maintenance of the 
existing Conservation/Stewardship easement and that the area has not been continuously 
maintained.  Mr. Fain stated that this condition should be reiterated in the approval for 
the modification and that a timeline should be set for the work to be done.   
 
Jay Fain moved and Peter Hood seconded to approve the modification request as per the 
staff recommendation, with Condition #5 from the original approval (dated May 3, 2019) 
amended to say that the work in the Stewardship Easement should be substantially 
completed within 6 months.  Motion passed unanimously.   

 
2. WP-22-102, City of Bridgeport, 2390 Easton Turnpike (Fairchild Wheeler Golf 

Course) Assessor’s Map 11 Parcel 2. Construction of two detention areas for flood 
mitigation within a regulated area. 
 
Chairman Thomas stated that the applicant has requested the withdrawal of this 
application due to the jurisdiction of the CT DEEP Dam Safety Group. 
 

3. WP-22-132, Town of Fairfield, 725 Old Post Road (Burr Garden Pond) 
Assessor’s Map 373 Parcel 491 Restoration of an existing pond within a regulated area. 
 
Mr. Bishop stated that this pond is ornamental. 

 
Richard Boucher moved and Peter Hood seconded to approve the application with the 
standard and specific conditions of approval.  Motion passed unanimously.   
 

4. Declaratory Ruling Request – Charney, 360 & 366 Mine Hill Road 
Assessor’s Map 148 Parcel 76 Construction of a lean-to within a regulated area.   
 
Ms. Bowen noted that a similar structure was present when the homeowners purchased 
the property, but had not been usable due to disrepair.   
 
Jay Fain moved, and Gerry Alessi seconded to find the construction of the proposed lean-
to be exempt and as-of-right.  Motion passed unanimously.   

 
 

V.  APPLICATIONS FOR RECEIPT 
1. WP-22-158, Lucas Papageorge, 177 High Meadow 

Assessor’s Map 229 Parcel 205A 
Construction of a new residential dwelling with in-ground pool, drainage, septic and 
site work within a regulated area 
 
Gerry Alessi moved and Richard Boucher seconded to table the application pending legal 
notice and departmental review.  Motion passed unanimously.    
 

2. WP-22-158, John Fallon, 150 Villa Ave 
Assessor’s Map 33, Parcel 75A 
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Subdivide into four parcels and construct new houses on three parcels within a 
regulated area. 

 
James Baldwin, Town Attorney, noted that the town has entered into an agreement with 
property owner to buy a portion of property next to the 3-lot subdivision and the owner 
will donate the rest of the property to the Town.  The property will be deed restricted, 
will not be built on, and is planned to be used for Rooster River Flood Mitigation 
purposes.  They are requesting a fee waiver, since the fee would be included in to the cost 
of the purchase of the property.   
 
Gerry Alessi moved and Peter Hood seconded to approve the fee waiver request.  There 
was a brief discussion about what would happen if the sale of the property does not go 
through.  Attorney Baldwin noted that there are measures in the contract that should 
protect the town.  Motion passed unanimously.   
 
Gerry Alessi moved and Dabney Bowen seconded to table the application pending legal 
notice and departmental review.  Motion passed unanimously. 

 
Commissioner Fain recused himself from the following item only, stating that he is the soil 
scientist on record.  Chairman Thomas appointed Amanda Mertens Campbell to sit as a full 
member for this item only. 
 

3. WP-22-159, Muddy Puddle III LLC, 361 Cross Highway 
Assessor’s Map 170 Parcel 38 
Construction of a new residential dwelling with in-ground pool, drainage, septic and 
site work within a regulated area 
 
Dabney Bowen moved and Gerry Alessi seconded to find the application significant and 
to schedule a public hearing for June 1, 2022. Motion passed unanimously.   
 

4. WP-22-161, 4480 Black Rock LLC, 4480 Black Rock Turnpike 
Assessor’s Map 116 Parcel 3 
Construction of a multi-unit apartment complex with associated parking area, 
driveways, and storm water retention areas within a regulated area. 
 
Gerry Alessi moved and Brian McCann seconded to approve the fee waiver request.  Mr. 
Alessi noted that two petitions and several emails had been received from the public 
requesting the fee waiver be denied.   
 
Chris Russo, attorney for the applicant noted that they have not seen the comments from 
the public.  Attorney Russo stated that the previous application for this project had been 
denied and that the Commission had indicated that they would entertain a fee waiver 
request.  The applicant does not feel that it is appropriate to charge another fee, since the 
public hearing did not have any presentations for the previous application.  Attorney 
Russo stated that all requested application information has been submitted to address the 
Agency’s concerns for this application, with the exception of the Aquarion water main, 
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which Aquarion is staking in the field this week.  It was noted that the fees are based on 
the amount of regulated area on the property, not on the amount of work that has been 
done to review the application.  Attorney Russo noted that the applicant is requesting a 
full fee waiver.   
 
After a brief discussion, the Agency voted on the motion previously made: 
In Favor: McCann 
Opposed: Fain, Hood, Alessi, Bowen, Thomas, Boucher 
Motion denied 6-1. 
 
Mr. Bishop suggested that the Commission may want to entertain the idea of retaining a 
third party review of the application.  

.   
Dabney Bowen moved and Jay Fain seconded to find the application significant and to 
schedule a public hearing for June 1, 2022.  Motion passed unanimously.   
 

5. Town of Fairfield – Wetlands Map Amendment 
 
Mr. Bishop stated that the revisions to the town wetlands maps regarding tidal wetland 
locations, as presented by SLR at the April 6 meeting, will require a public hearing.   
 
Gerry Alessi moved and Brian McCann seconded to schedule a public hearing for June 1, 
2022.  Motion passed unanimously.  

 
VI. BILLS AND BOND RELEASES – none 
 
VII. LEGAL/ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS 
 

1. Show Cause Hearing: Jeanine Norwood, 120 Wakeman Lane, Southport  
Assessors Map 246 Parcel 5C Clearing of wetlands vegetation and deposition of 
material within a wetland. 
 
Chairman Thomas noted that some of the commissioners have done a site walk of the 
property.   
 
Bruce Jackson, attorney for the homeowner, stated that Ms. Norwood bought the property 
in October of 2021 and had retained contractors to clean up the overgrowth in the yard, 
relocate the pool equipment and install a pool fence.  He noted that she was unaware of 
the restrictions of the property.  It was noted all clearing and work within the wetlands 
has stopped.  Attorney Jackson stated that they are asking that the Commission allow 
them to install the pool equipment and the pool fence, as there was no fence around the 
pool when the property was purchased and it is a safety issue.  The homeowner would 
also like to grade and seed the disturbed area.  Once that is done, they will come to the 
Commission with an application for restoration.  
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Mr. Hood stated that the restrictions of the property and the Conservation Easement 
should have been evident when a title search was done.  Mr. Boucher noted that 
irreparable damage has been done to the wetlands and inquired how they plan to address 
that.   
 
Mr. Fain stated that a drain had been put into the wetlands, which will need to be 
removed, as that was not permitted.  Attorney Jackson stated that a new drain had been 
installed to replace an existing drain, but that the homeowner would remove it.  Mr. Fain 
suggested that they stabilize the area with an annual rye while they prepare a restoration 
plan.   
 
It was noted that the building permit was pulled for the pool in 1984 but was never 
closed, and there is no record of a fence around the pool.  There was a brief discussion 
about the type of fencing that can be installed for a pool fence that would satisfy both the 
building code and the agency’s concerns.  Once the fence is installed, a planting plan 
would need to be submitted as soon as possible.   

 
Richard Boucher moved and Jay Fain seconded to allow for a temporary fence to be 
installed around the pool for safety purposes only.  It was noted that Conservation 
Department staff would need to approve the location of the fencing before it is installed 
and that state guidelines should be followed.  Ms. Norwood noted that she would put the 
fence wherever the Commission would let her install it.   
 
After more discussion about the fencing, Richard Boucher amended his above motion 
and moved to allow for a permanent fence to be installed around the pool for safety 
purposes, to be approved by the Town, with a timeline of two weeks to have the fence 
installed.  Jay Fain seconded the motion.  Motion passed unanimously.   
 
The location of the fence will be approved by Conservation Department staff prior to 
installation.  Ms. Bowen stated that once the fence installation is complete, Ms. Norwood 
should come back before the Commission with a mitigation plan. 
 
Jay Fain moved, and Peter Hood seconded to put the violation on the land records.  
Motion failed 3-4 (In favor: Fain, Hood, Boucher; Opposed: Thomas, Bowen, Alessi, 
McCann) 
 
Ms. Bowen moved and Richard Boucher seconded to put the violation on the land records 
if the property owner does not submit an acceptable restoration plan within 90 days. 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Mr. Fain stated that the remediation plan should require that the Conservation Easement 
and wetlands limits be staked in the field. 
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VIII. STAFF REPORT 
 

1. Revised Agenda format – Mr. Bishop stated that the format of the agenda has been 
changed to make it more user friendly.  A file cloud link has been added for the agenda 
attachments.  Feedback from the Commission is encouraged.  It was the consensus of the 
commission to include the statutory deadlines in future agendas.   

 
2. Reports from the Conservation Department – informational 

a. CWC Applications received: 12 
b. Notice of Violations issued: 3 
c. Bonds released: 5 

 
3. Site Walks for May 8 or 16  

 
Mr. Fain inquired if site walks can be done in the evening now that the sun sets later.  It 
was the consensus of the commission to schedule upcoming site walks for Wednesday 
evenings – possibly May 11 and May 18.   

 
4. May 2022 classroom/field training with SLR 

 
Mr. Bishop will confirm if this will be May 18 or May 25.   
 

5. Future meeting locations  
 
Mr. Bishop stated that there had been a conversation about moving the meeting locations 
to the Fire Department Training Center, but that it is not an option at this time.  Sullivan 
Hall is no longer available for the Conservation Commission meeting, so staff will look 
into reserving the Board of Education meeting room for those meetings.   

 
IX. OTHER 
 

1. Executive Session – Discussion of Acquisition of Property 
 

Gerry Alessi moved and Dabney Bowen seconded to go into executive session and to 
invite Conservation Department staff and the Town Attorney into this executive session.   
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Executive session took place from 8:37-8:47 p.m. No action was taken in executive 
session. 
 
Gerry Alessi moved and Brian McCann seconded to come out of executive session.  
Motion passed unanimously.   
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X. ADJOURN 
 

There being no further business, Dabney Bowen moved and Gerry Alessi seconded to 
adjourn the meeting 8:48 p.m.  Motion passed unanimously.  

 
The audio recording can be found here: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=mi4fSD5Mn68 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Sarah Neafsey 
 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=mi4fSD5Mn68


Fairfield Conservation Commission    May 25, 2022 

Minutes 

 

Site Walk 

 

Meeting Start: 6:28 p.m. 

Members Present:  Lukas Thomas, Chair;  Peter Hood 

Members Absent: Dabney Bowen; Richard Boucher; Jay Fain; Gerry Alessi; Brian McCann; 
Amanda Mertens Campbell 

Location:  150 Villa Ave 

     4480 Black Rock Turnpike 

     361 Cross Highway  

 

While at 4480 Black Rock, also present were Jim Kousidis, P.E. and Avind Baur both of Kousidis 
Engineering, LLC. They offered to be available to answer any questions or to meet any 
commissioner at the site.  

Meeting end: 7:35 p.m. 

 

 

 

 

 

 







































REFUNDS SUBMITTED FOR APPROVAL
8/22/2022

Name List No. Tax Interest DMV Bill Reason

2021 REAL ESTATE
KAROVSKI IRENA 2021 01 04013 $5,714.20 PAID IN ERROR
GAYDOSH ROBERT M & GABRIELLE 2021 01 06590 $2,044.09 PAID IN ERROR
TOTAL $7,758.29

2021 MOTOR VEHICLE
ABBENANTE JAMES T 2021 03 50050 $59.38 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
ACAR LEASING LTD 2021 03 50286 $867.40 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
ACAR LEASING LTD 2021 03 50298 $657.14 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
ALMANZA-CONTRERA ANDRES 2021 03 51069 $50.94 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
BURWICK JOSHUA J 2021 03 54962 $248.72 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
CARPENTER JOAN C 2021 03 55848 $64.13 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
DAIMLER TRUST 2021 03 59172 $190.66 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
DAIMLER TRUST 2021 03 59199 $1,210.32 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
DAIMLER TRUST 2021 03 59292 $445.44 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
DAIMLER TRUST 2021 03 59411 $456.26 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
DAIMLER TRUST 2021 03 59430 $153.98 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
GNIADEK STEPHEN A JR 2021 03 66315 $17.34 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
GODLEWSKI AGNIESZKA 2021 03 66341 $32.06 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
GUZIK DAVID C & HEIDI L 2021 03 67427 $7.90 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
HAMILTON MELISSA A 2021 03 67646 $147.37 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
HONDA LEASE TRUST 2021 03 69362 $560.32 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
INSECTAX LLC 2021 03 70633 $295.06 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
LOW JOHN M & JULIE H 2021 03 75761 $53.58 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
MALINOVSKY JOHN J 2021 03 76405 $30.94 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
PRESS AUDREY 2021 03 84021 $24.70 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
RAGGIO ROSS P 2021 03 84479 $63.99 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
TALLMAN JAMES P 2021 03 90307 $71.32 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
TOYOTA LEASE TRUST 2021 03 91820 $922.84 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
VAYSER NORA L/ESTATE 2021 03 93506 $142.09 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
VW CREDIT INC 2021 03 94349 $214.98 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
VW CREDIT INC 2021 03 94363 $310.52 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
VW CREDIT INC 2021 03 94368 $211.78 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
VW CREDIT INC 2021 03 94399 $98.68 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
VW CREDIT LEASING LTD 2021 03 94525 $280.68 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
VW CREDIT LEASING LTD 2021 03 94569 $199.06 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
VW CREDIT LEASING LTD 2021 03 94663 $271.84 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
VW CREDIT LEASING LTD 2021 03 94692 $177.80 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
VW CREDIT LEASING LTD 2021 03 94699 $230.24 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
VW CREDIT LEASING LTD 2021 03 94706 $172.72 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
WILSON GABI C 2021 03 96178 $19.24 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
WILSON KIM L 2021 03 96192 $23.02 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
TOTAL $8,984.44

2021 PERSONAL PROPERTY
GO2TECH LLC 2021 02 20213616 $52.44 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
TOTAL $52.44

2020 REAL ESTATE
BERWICK FAIRCHILD & ASSOC 2020 01 02706 $1,234.67 PROPERTY SOLD
TOTAL $1,234.67



2020 MOTOR VEHICLE
ALMANZA-CONTRERA ANDRES A 2020 03 51127 $45.60 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
DAIMLER TRUST 2020 03 59216 $401.88 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
REICH ERIC H 2020 03 84186 $6.53 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
RUSSO MICHAEL SR 2020 03 85648 $12.41 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
RUSSO MICHAEL SR 2020 03 85650 $62.78 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
RUSSO MICHAEL SR 2020 03 85651 $81.20 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
TOYOTA LEASE TRUST 2020 03 90551 $102.38 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
TOYOTA LEASE TRUST 2020 03 90667 $275.64 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
TOYOTA LEASE TRUST 2020 03 90758 $87.36 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
TOYOTA LEASE TRUST 2020 03 90783 $278.70 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
HONDA LEASE TRUST 2020 04 84493 $131.07 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
VAULT TRUST 2020 04 89671 $400.52 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
TOTAL $1,886.07

2019 REAL ESTATE
DANIELLO FRED R & LINDA S 2019 01 160421 $28.27 OVERPAID IN ERROR
TOTAL $28.27

2019 MOTOR VEHICLE
TOYOTA LEASE TRUST 2019 03 92424 $277.02 OVERPAID DUE TO ADJUSTMENT
TOTAL $277.02

2019 PERSONAL PROPERTY
PUBLIC STORAGE INC 2019 02 32987 $180.56 OVERPAID IN ERROR
STARBUCKS COFFEE COMPANY 2019 02 35338 $1,120.36 OVERPAID IN ERROR
TOTAL $1,300.92

TOTAL TAX $21,522.12
TOTAL INTEREST 0
GRAND TOTAL $21,522.12
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	(a) Property and Pre-existing Conditions.  The Town currently owns the Property.  The Town shall ground lease the Property to the Development Partner and any, if any, Owner Entity in order to facilitate the Redevelopment as described above.  The Parti...
	(b) Site Investigation.  The Development Partner shall be responsible for submitting all required documents to any other governmental entity, as required by applicable law and regulation, for review of the environmental impact of the Redevelopment and...
	(c) Remediation Costs and Responsibilities Prior to Closing.  The Parties will work in good faith to modify the Redevelopment Budget as required to budget for any remediation costs (excluding those arising from a breach of Section 4(f)).  Notwithstand...
	(d) Discovery of Prohibited Substances.  In the event that the Development Partner encounters any Prohibited Substances (defined below) on the Property not previously identified through testing, the Development Partner shall promptly notify the Town i...
	(e) Environmental Insurance.  If required by any Funder or Regulator, the Development Partner shall obtain environmental insurance, if such insurance is available at a reasonable cost to Development Partner, the cost of which shall be a project expens...
	(f) Covenant Regarding Prohibited Substances.  The Development Partner shall not bring onto the Property, or permit its agents, contractors or employees to bring onto the Property any (i) asbestos or asbestos-containing material or polychlorinated bip...
	(g) Environmental Responsibilities After Closing.
	i. After the Closing, the Town shall only be liable for the following environmental conditions on the portion of the Property as to which the Closing has taken place: (i) environmental conditions caused by Town or its agents, contractors or employees ...
	ii. After Closing, the Development Partner shall be liable for the following environmental conditions on the Property: (i) environmental conditions caused by Development Partner or its agents, contractors or employees after Closing, (ii) pre-existing ...
	iii. After Closing, the Town will work in good faith with the Development Partner to identify third-party funding sources to pay for any unforeseen remediation costs (without limiting the responsibilities of the Development Partner under otherwise app...
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	i. The existence of any Prohibited Substance first placed on, in, or under all or any portion of the Property on or after Closing; or
	ii. Any violation of any federal, state or local environmental laws by the Development Partner at or relating to the Property that arises out of their respective acts or omissions of the Town after Closing.
	The provisions of this Section 4(h) shall survive Closing and the termination of this Agreement.
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	Item 5 150 Villa Avenue
	Item 5a 150 Villa Aveune Proposal
	Item 5b Inland Wetlands Agency Minutes June 1 2022
	I.  CALL TO ORDER: Chairman Thomas called the meeting to order at 7:08 p.m.
	II.  APPOINTMENT OF ALTERNATES: Chairman Thomas appointed Peter Hood to sit as a full member.
	III.  APPROVAL OF DRAFT MEETING MINUTES
	There was unanimous consent by the Agency to approve the following meeting minutes, as drafted:
	1. Sitewalk: May 1, 2022
	2. Inland Wetlands Agency Meeting: May 4, 2022
	3. Sitewalk: May 11, 2022
	4. Commissioner Training: May 18, 2022
	5. Sitewalk: May 25, 2022
	IV.  APPLICATIONS FOR DISCUSSION
	2. WP-22-158, John Fallon, 150 Villa Ave
	Assessor’s Map 33, Parcel 75A
	Subdivide into four parcels and construct new houses on three parcels within a regulated area.
	John Fallon, Attorney for applicant, gave a brief overview of the proposal, noting that the entire parcel is proposed to be subdivided to create four parcels – one open space parcel and three building lots.  The town will be buying the proposed open s...
	Mr. Fain noted that use of the property for flood control improvements is the best possible use of the property and that it would be difficult to develop.
	Jay Fain moved, and Dabney Bowen seconded, to approve the application with the standard and specific conditions of approval.  Motion passed unanimously.  The letter conveying the decision is attached (A).
	IX.  Public Hearing
	3. WP-22-161, 4480 Black Rock LLC, 4480 Black Rock Turnpike
	Map 116 Parcel 3
	Construction of a multi-unit apartment complex with associated parking areas, driveways, and storm water retention systems within a regulated area.
	The public hearing was opened at 7:15 p.m.
	Chairman Thomas stated that a letter has been received from the applicant requesting a continuance until July 6 to give the property owner time to find new council.
	Jay Fain moved, and Dabney Bowen seconded, to continue the public hearing to July 6.  Motion passed unanimously.
	The public hearing was closed at 7:17 p.m.  The hearing was recorded and is available at Independence Hall, 725 Old Post Road, Fairfield, Connecticut.
	IV.  APPLICATIONS FOR DISCUSSION
	3. WP-22-157, Lucas Papageorge, 177 High Meadow
	Assessor’s Map 229 Parcel 205A
	Construction of a new residential dwelling with in-ground pool, drainage, septic and site work within a regulated area
	Lucas Papageorge, applicant, stated that there are no wetland soils on site but the property is within the upland review area.  They are proposing to build a residential dwelling with a pool, patio and septic system.  Mr. Papageorge noted that they h...
	Mr. Fain stated that more time is needed to evaluate the revised plan.  He also noted that the planting plan is missing and should be incorporated with the revised plans.
	Jay Fain moved and Dabney Bowen seconded to continue the application to the next meeting so that the revised plan can be reviewed.  Motion passed unanimously.
	3. Declaratory Ruling Request – Bronson Meadows LLC, 2644 Bronson Road
	Assessor’s Map 225 Parcel 20
	Construction of a covered riding ring structure, horse pathway revisions, and site walls to accommodate grading associated with the covered riding ring within a regulate area.
	Jay Fain recused himself from this item and did not participate.
	Craig Flaherty, representative for the applicant, gave a brief overview of the proposal, noting the improvements that have been constructed on the property between 2016 and 2020.
	Dabney Bowen moved and Peter Hood seconded to find the construction of the proposed covered riding ring to be exempt and as-of-right.  Motion passed unanimously.  The letter conveying this decision is attached (B).
	V.  APPLICATIONS FOR RECEIPT
	1. WP-22-169, Hudson, 875 Mill Hill Road
	Assessor’s Map 228 Parcel 95
	Installation of a curtain drain and deposition of fill in rear yard and construction of an in-ground pool within a regulated area
	There was unanimous consent to table the application pending legal notice and departmental review.
	2. WP-22-184, Sperry, 124 Pansy Road
	Assessor’s Map 123 Parcel 77
	Construction of a single-family dwelling within a regulated area.
	There was unanimous consent to table the application pending legal notice and departmental review.
	Mr. Fain requested that all wetland delineations be located on the parcel prior to the Commission’s site walk of the property.
	VI. BILLS AND BOND RELEASES – none
	VII. LEGAL/ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS
	1. Show Cause Hearing: Joseph Worthington, 230 Catamount Road
	Map 217 Parcel 23
	Conducted work within a regulated area without a permit
	The Show Cause Hearing was opening at 7:38 p.m.
	Mr. Thomas noted that the attorney for Mr. Worthington has submitted a letter stating their intentions to file the required application to resolve the violation.  Staff noted that the attorney has been in contact with the Conservation Department about...
	There was unanimous consent from the Agency to continue the Show Cause Hearing to allow the property owner time to file the required Certificate of Wetlands Conformance.
	There was unanimous consent from the Agency to close the show cause hearing.
	The show cause hearing was closed at 7:40 p.m.  The hearing was recorded and is available at Independence Hall, 725 Old Post Road, Fairfield, Connecticut.
	2. Show Cause Hearing: Jeanine Norwood, 120 Wakeman Lane, Southport
	Assessors Map 246 Parcel 5C
	Clearing of wetlands vegetation and deposition of material within a wetland
	The Show Cause Hearing was opened at 7:40 p.m.
	Jeanine Norwood stated that she received notice of the show cause hearing Friday, and does not understand why she was required to be there.  She noted that the upland review area was not listed on her title search when she purchased the property and t...
	Mr. Thomas noted that the show cause hearing was opened at the May meeting and had been continued.  Mr. Fain stated that this is a serious matter and that evidence of wetland soil clearing was found by the Conservation Director.  Mr. Thomas noted that...
	Jay Fain moved and Dabney Bowen seconded to continue the Show Cause Hearing to the July 6 meeting.  Motion passed unanimously.
	The show cause hearing was closed at 7:48 p.m.  The hearing was recorded and is available at Independence Hall, 725 Old Post Road, Fairfield, Connecticut.
	VIII. STAFF REPORT
	1. Reports from the Conservation Department – informational
	a. CWC Applications received: 16
	b. Notice of Violations issued: 1
	c. Bonds released: 5
	2. Site Walks for June –
	a. 875 Mill Hill Road
	b. 124 Pansy Road
	It was noted that dates for a site walk will circulated via email and properly noticed.
	IX. PUBLIC HEARINGS
	1. Town of Fairfield Wetlands Map Amendment
	The public hearing was opened at 7:52 p.m.
	Megan Raymond, professional wetland scientist and soil scientist with SLR, gave a brief overview of the current Town wetlands maps, stating that this map amendment focused on the tidally influenced areas.  It was noted that tidal wetlands are present ...
	Mr. Fain stated that since these resources are estimations, and are reliable but not guaranteed, the following disclaimers should be made on the maps:
	1. Properties that may not appear on the map may still contain inland wetland soil
	2. There may be properties that show tidal wetlands on the maps that may also have inland wetlands (dual jurisdiction).
	One member of the public spoke in favor of the map amendment.
	Dabney Bowen moved and Peter Hood seconded to accept the new maps with the disclaimers stated above by Commissioner Fain.  Motion passed unanimously.
	The public hearing was closed at 8:01 p.m.  The hearing was recorded and is available at Independence Hall, 725 Old Post Road, Fairfield, Connecticut.
	2. WP-22-159, Muddy Puddle II, LLC, 361 Cross Highway
	The public hearing was closed at 8:24 p.m.  The hearing was recorded and is available at Independence Hall, 725 Old Post Road, Fairfield, Connecticut.
	X. OTHER
	a. Notice from Cuddy & Feder, LLP,  for City of Bridgeport Inland Wetlands Permit Application related to site work and building improvement for Safeguard Properties, LLC at 2710, 2720, and 2668 North Avenue, Bridgeport. - Informational
	b. Discussion of IWPA deadlines for application submissions
	Staff has requested that moving forward, the deadline for new application submissions should be eight business days before the scheduled monthly meeting to allow staff enough time to review the applications for completeness.   Submission of supplement...
	X. ADJOURN
	There being no further business, Dabney Bowen moved and Peter Hood seconded to adjourn the meeting 8:33 p.m.  Motion passed unanimously.

	Item 5c Inland Wetlands Agency Minutes May 4 2022
	I.  CALL TO ORDER: Chairman Thomas called the meeting to order at 7:05 p.m.
	II.  APPOINTMENT OF ALTERNATES: Chairman Thomas appointed Peter Hood to sit as a full member.
	III.  APPROVAL OF DRAFT MEETING MINUTES
	1. Inland Wetlands Meeting: April 6, 2022: Gerry Alessi moved and Dabney Bowen seconded to approve the meeting minutes of April 6, 2022 as drafted.  Motion passed unanimously.
	2. Sitewalk: April 10, 2022: There was unanimous consent from the Agency to approve the sitewalk meeting minutes of April 10, 2022.
	IV.  APPLICATIONS FOR DISCUSSION
	1. (Cont’) IWP 2018-19-09, Black Rock Realty, LLC, 219 Ash Creek Boulevard Assessor’s Map 80 Parcel 4A Request of Landtech for a wetland permit modification for the phasing sequence of the project.
	Brian Carey, Director of Environmental Services for Landtech, stated that the application is in agreement with the staff recommendation.
	Mr. Fain stated that the 2019 approval has a condition to ensure the maintenance of the existing Conservation/Stewardship easement and that the area has not been continuously maintained.  Mr. Fain stated that this condition should be reiterated in the...
	Jay Fain moved and Peter Hood seconded to approve the modification request as per the staff recommendation, with Condition #5 from the original approval (dated May 3, 2019) amended to say that the work in the Stewardship Easement should be substantial...
	2. WP-22-102, City of Bridgeport, 2390 Easton Turnpike (Fairchild Wheeler Golf Course) Assessor’s Map 11 Parcel 2. Construction of two detention areas for flood mitigation within a regulated area.
	Chairman Thomas stated that the applicant has requested the withdrawal of this application due to the jurisdiction of the CT DEEP Dam Safety Group.
	3. WP-22-132, Town of Fairfield, 725 Old Post Road (Burr Garden Pond)
	Assessor’s Map 373 Parcel 491 Restoration of an existing pond within a regulated area.
	Mr. Bishop stated that this pond is ornamental.
	Richard Boucher moved and Peter Hood seconded to approve the application with the standard and specific conditions of approval.  Motion passed unanimously.
	4. Declaratory Ruling Request – Charney, 360 & 366 Mine Hill Road
	Assessor’s Map 148 Parcel 76 Construction of a lean-to within a regulated area.
	Ms. Bowen noted that a similar structure was present when the homeowners purchased the property, but had not been usable due to disrepair.
	Jay Fain moved, and Gerry Alessi seconded to find the construction of the proposed lean-to be exempt and as-of-right.  Motion passed unanimously.
	V.  APPLICATIONS FOR RECEIPT
	1. WP-22-158, Lucas Papageorge, 177 High Meadow
	Assessor’s Map 229 Parcel 205A
	Construction of a new residential dwelling with in-ground pool, drainage, septic and site work within a regulated area
	Gerry Alessi moved and Richard Boucher seconded to table the application pending legal notice and departmental review.  Motion passed unanimously.
	2. WP-22-158, John Fallon, 150 Villa Ave
	Assessor’s Map 33, Parcel 75A
	Subdivide into four parcels and construct new houses on three parcels within a regulated area.
	James Baldwin, Town Attorney, noted that the town has entered into an agreement with property owner to buy a portion of property next to the 3-lot subdivision and the owner will donate the rest of the property to the Town.  The property will be deed r...
	Gerry Alessi moved and Peter Hood seconded to approve the fee waiver request.  There was a brief discussion about what would happen if the sale of the property does not go through.  Attorney Baldwin noted that there are measures in the contract that s...
	Gerry Alessi moved and Dabney Bowen seconded to table the application pending legal notice and departmental review.  Motion passed unanimously.
	Commissioner Fain recused himself from the following item only, stating that he is the soil scientist on record.  Chairman Thomas appointed Amanda Mertens Campbell to sit as a full member for this item only.
	3. WP-22-159, Muddy Puddle III LLC, 361 Cross Highway
	Assessor’s Map 170 Parcel 38
	Construction of a new residential dwelling with in-ground pool, drainage, septic and site work within a regulated area
	Dabney Bowen moved and Gerry Alessi seconded to find the application significant and to schedule a public hearing for June 1, 2022. Motion passed unanimously.
	4. WP-22-161, 4480 Black Rock LLC, 4480 Black Rock Turnpike
	Assessor’s Map 116 Parcel 3
	Construction of a multi-unit apartment complex with associated parking area, driveways, and storm water retention areas within a regulated area.
	Gerry Alessi moved and Brian McCann seconded to approve the fee waiver request.  Mr. Alessi noted that two petitions and several emails had been received from the public requesting the fee waiver be denied.
	Chris Russo, attorney for the applicant noted that they have not seen the comments from the public.  Attorney Russo stated that the previous application for this project had been denied and that the Commission had indicated that they would entertain a...
	After a brief discussion, the Agency voted on the motion previously made:
	In Favor: McCann
	Opposed: Fain, Hood, Alessi, Bowen, Thomas, Boucher
	Motion denied 6-1.
	Mr. Bishop suggested that the Commission may want to entertain the idea of retaining a third party review of the application.
	.
	Dabney Bowen moved and Jay Fain seconded to find the application significant and to schedule a public hearing for June 1, 2022.  Motion passed unanimously.
	5. Town of Fairfield – Wetlands Map Amendment
	Mr. Bishop stated that the revisions to the town wetlands maps regarding tidal wetland locations, as presented by SLR at the April 6 meeting, will require a public hearing.
	Gerry Alessi moved and Brian McCann seconded to schedule a public hearing for June 1, 2022.  Motion passed unanimously.
	VI. BILLS AND BOND RELEASES – none
	VII. LEGAL/ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS
	1. Show Cause Hearing: Jeanine Norwood, 120 Wakeman Lane, Southport
	Assessors Map 246 Parcel 5C Clearing of wetlands vegetation and deposition of material within a wetland.
	Chairman Thomas noted that some of the commissioners have done a site walk of the property.
	Bruce Jackson, attorney for the homeowner, stated that Ms. Norwood bought the property in October of 2021 and had retained contractors to clean up the overgrowth in the yard, relocate the pool equipment and install a pool fence.  He noted that she was...
	Mr. Hood stated that the restrictions of the property and the Conservation Easement should have been evident when a title search was done.  Mr. Boucher noted that irreparable damage has been done to the wetlands and inquired how they plan to address t...
	Mr. Fain stated that a drain had been put into the wetlands, which will need to be removed, as that was not permitted.  Attorney Jackson stated that a new drain had been installed to replace an existing drain, but that the homeowner would remove it.  ...
	It was noted that the building permit was pulled for the pool in 1984 but was never closed, and there is no record of a fence around the pool.  There was a brief discussion about the type of fencing that can be installed for a pool fence that would sa...
	Richard Boucher moved and Jay Fain seconded to allow for a temporary fence to be installed around the pool for safety purposes only.  It was noted that Conservation Department staff would need to approve the location of the fencing before it is instal...
	After more discussion about the fencing, Richard Boucher amended his above motion and moved to allow for a permanent fence to be installed around the pool for safety purposes, to be approved by the Town, with a timeline of two weeks to have the fence ...
	The location of the fence will be approved by Conservation Department staff prior to installation.  Ms. Bowen stated that once the fence installation is complete, Ms. Norwood should come back before the Commission with a mitigation plan.
	Jay Fain moved, and Peter Hood seconded to put the violation on the land records.  Motion failed 3-4 (In favor: Fain, Hood, Boucher; Opposed: Thomas, Bowen, Alessi, McCann)
	Ms. Bowen moved and Richard Boucher seconded to put the violation on the land records if the property owner does not submit an acceptable restoration plan within 90 days. Motion passed unanimously.
	Mr. Fain stated that the remediation plan should require that the Conservation Easement and wetlands limits be staked in the field.
	VIII. STAFF REPORT
	1. Revised Agenda format – Mr. Bishop stated that the format of the agenda has been changed to make it more user friendly.  A file cloud link has been added for the agenda attachments.  Feedback from the Commission is encouraged.  It was the consensus...
	2. Reports from the Conservation Department – informational
	a. CWC Applications received: 12
	b. Notice of Violations issued: 3
	c. Bonds released: 5
	3. Site Walks for May 8 or 16
	Mr. Fain inquired if site walks can be done in the evening now that the sun sets later.  It was the consensus of the commission to schedule upcoming site walks for Wednesday evenings – possibly May 11 and May 18.
	4. May 2022 classroom/field training with SLR
	Mr. Bishop will confirm if this will be May 18 or May 25.
	5. Future meeting locations
	Mr. Bishop stated that there had been a conversation about moving the meeting locations to the Fire Department Training Center, but that it is not an option at this time.  Sullivan Hall is no longer available for the Conservation Commission meeting, s...
	IX. OTHER
	1. Executive Session – Discussion of Acquisition of Property
	Gerry Alessi moved and Dabney Bowen seconded to go into executive session and to invite Conservation Department staff and the Town Attorney into this executive session.
	Motion passed unanimously.
	Executive session took place from 8:37-8:47 p.m. No action was taken in executive session.
	Gerry Alessi moved and Brian McCann seconded to come out of executive session.  Motion passed unanimously.
	X. ADJOURN
	There being no further business, Dabney Bowen moved and Gerry Alessi seconded to adjourn the meeting 8:48 p.m.  Motion passed unanimously.
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